
City Council Meeting Agenda 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 3 

City of Belton, Texas 
City Council Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, January 24, 2023 - 5:30 p.m. 
Wright Room at the Harris Community Center 

401 N. Alexander, Belton, Texas 

Pledge of Allegiance. The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag will be led by Mayor Pro 
Tem David K. Leigh. 

Texas Pledge. The Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag will be led by Grants and 
Special Projects Coordinator Jo-Ell Guzman. 

“Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee Texas, one state under 
God, one and indivisible.” 

Invocation. The Invocation will be given by Councilmember Dan Kirkley. 

1. Call to order.

2. Public Comments.

Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may register to do
so prior to this meeting and speak during this item. Forms are located on the
table outside of the south side entry to the meeting room. Please state your
name and address for the record and limit your comments to three minutes.
Also, please understand that while the Council appreciates hearing your
comments, State law (Texas Gov’t Code §551.042) prohibits them from: (1)
engaging in discussion other than providing a statement of specific factual
information or reciting existing City policy, and (2) taking action other than
directing Staff to place the matter on a future agenda.

Consent Agenda 

Items 3-10 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 

3. Consider minutes of the January 10, 2023, City Council Meeting.



City Council Meeting Agenda 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 3 
 
 

4. Consider a resolution nominating the City’s candidate for election to the Board of 
Directors of the Central Texas Water Supply Corporation. 

 
5. Consider a resolution declaring that the updated January 1, 2023, population 

estimate for the City of Belton is 25,466. 
 

6. Consider an amended employment agreement for the City Manager. 
 
7. Consider approval of the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Annual Report for 2022. 

 
8. Consider resolutions authorizing the submission of grant applications to the Office of 

the Governor, Criminal Justice Division, for the following: 
 

A. General Victim Assistance Grant, Victims of Crime Act; and 
B. In-Car Camera Upgrades.  

 
9. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Axon for the 

acquisition of body worn cameras and Fleet 3 vehicle cameras for the Police 
Department. 

 
10. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services 

agreement with Kasberg, Patrick & Associates for design services for the E. 13th 
Avenue Sidewalk & SUP Project CSJ 0909-36-169. 

 
Planning and Zoning 
 
11. Z-22-46 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Planned 

Development – Mixed Use to an Amended Planned Development (PD) to allow 
townhouses on approximately 5.087 acres located at 2450 Piazza Drive, located 
west of Shanklin Road and south of Auction Barn Road. This item has been 
withdrawn.   

 
12. Z-23-01 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to 

Commercial Highway on approximately 7.51 acres located at 3401 S. IH 35 Service 
Road, located at the southwest intersection of IH 35 and Mesquite Road. 

 
13. Z-23-02 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to 

Planned Development Commercial Highway on approximately 6.198 acres located 
at 5881 W. US 190 Service Road, at the southeast intersection of Interstate 14 and 
George Wilson Road. 

 
14. Z-23-03 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to 

Planned Development – Mobile Home District on approximately 8.593 acres located 
at 1705 FM 1670, south of Interstate 14 and on the east side of FM 1670. 

 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
January 24, 2023 

Page 3 of 3 
 
 

15. Z-23-04 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Single Family-2 
Residential (SF-2) to Two Family (2F) on 0.921 acres located at 507 Ellis Avenue 
located in the Sallie J White Addition, Block 4, Lot 1.  

 
16. P-22-31 – Consider a final plat of Rodriguez Estates Addition, comprising 4.36 acres 

located at 1971 FM 1670. 
 
 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time regarding any issue on 
this agenda for which it is legally permissible.  
 
If interpreter services for the deaf or hearing impaired are required, please contact the City Clerk at (254) 
933-5817 at least 48 hours in advance. 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 4 
 
 

 
City of Belton, Texas 

 
City Council Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, January 24, 2023 - 5:30 p.m. 
Wright Room at the Harris Community Center 

401 N. Alexander, Belton, Texas 
 
 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
 
Pledge of Allegiance. The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag will be led by Mayor Pro 
Tem David K. Leigh. 
 
Texas Pledge. The Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag will be led by Grants and 
Special Projects Coordinator Jo-Ell Guzman. 
 

“Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee Texas, one state under 
God, one and indivisible.” 

 
Invocation. The Invocation will be given by Councilmember Dan Kirkley. 
 
1. Call to order. 
 
2. Public Comments. 

 
Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may register to do 
so prior to this meeting and speak during this item. Forms are located on the 
table outside of the south side entry to the meeting room. Please state your 
name and address for the record and limit your comments to three minutes. 
Also, please understand that while the Council appreciates hearing your 
comments, State law (Texas Gov’t Code §551.042) prohibits them from: (1) 
engaging in discussion other than providing a statement of specific factual 
information or reciting existing City policy, and (2) taking action other than 
directing Staff to place the matter on a future agenda. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 3-10 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 
 
3. Consider minutes of the January 10, 2023, City Council Meeting. 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 4 
 
 

A copy of the minutes is attached. Recommend approval. 
 
4. Consider a resolution nominating the City’s candidate for election to the 

Board of Directors of the Central Texas Water Supply Corporation. 
 

Please see Staff Report from City Clerk Amy Casey. Recommend nomination of 
Assistant Director of Public Works Scott Hodde as the City’s candidate for election to 
the CTWSC Board of Directors.  

 
5. Consider a resolution declaring that the updated January 1, 2023, population 

estimate for the City of Belton is 25,466. 
 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. Recommend adoption of the resolution 
declaring Belton’s population is 25,466. 
 

6. Consider an amended employment agreement for the City Manager. 
 

A copy of the revised agreement, including an increase in base salary, is attached. 
Recommend approval. 

 
7. Consider approval of the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Annual Report for 

2022. 
 

See Staff Report from Director of Finance Mike Rodgers. At its meeting on January 
19, 2023, the TIRZ Board unanimously recommended approval of the 2022 TIRZ 
Annual Report, and Staff concurs. 

 
8. Consider resolutions authorizing the submission of grant applications to the 

Office of the Governor, Criminal Justice Division, for the following: 
 

A. General Victim Assistance Grant, Victims of Crime Act; and 
B. In-Car Camera Upgrades.  

 
See Staff Report from Assistant City Manager/Chief of Police Gene Ellis and Grants 
and Special Projects Coordinator Jo-Ell Guzman. Recommend adoption of the 
resolutions. 

 
9. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Axon 

for the acquisition of body worn cameras and Fleet 3 vehicle cameras for the 
Police Department. 

 
See Staff Report from Assistant City Manager/Chief of Police Gene Ellis, Patrol 
Captain Daniel Aguirre and Director of IT Services Chris Brown. Recommend 
authorization to execute the agreement. 

 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
January 24, 2023 

Page 3 of 4 
 
 

10. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services 
agreement with Kasberg, Patrick & Associates for design services for the E. 
13th Avenue Sidewalk & SUP Project CSJ 0909-36-169. 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Public Works Matt Bates. Recommend 
authorization to contract with KPA for the E. 13th Avenue Sidewalk and SUP Project. 

 
Planning and Zoning 
 
11. Z-22-46 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Planned 

Development – Mixed Use to an Amended Planned Development (PD) to allow 
townhouses on approximately 5.087 acres located at 2450 Piazza Drive, 
located west of Shanklin Road and south of Auction Barn Road. This item has 
been withdrawn.   

 
This item has been withdrawn and no action is needed. Since it was advertised for a 
public hearing, it needed to appear on the agenda. 

 
12. Z-23-01 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from 

Agricultural to Commercial Highway on approximately 7.51 acres located at 
3401 S. IH 35 Service Road, located at the southwest intersection of IH 35 and 
Mesquite Road. 

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on January 17, 2023, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of this 
zoning change, and Staff concurs. 

 
13. Z-23-02 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from 

Agricultural to Planned Development Commercial Highway on approximately 
6.198 acres located at 5881 W. US 190 Service Road, at the southeast 
intersection of Interstate 14 and George Wilson Road. 

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on January 17, 2023, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of this 
zoning change, and Staff concurs. 

 
14. Z-23-03 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from 

Agricultural to Planned Development – Mobile Home District on approximately 
8.593 acres located at 1705 FM 1670, south of Interstate 14 and on the east 
side of FM 1670. 

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on January 17, 2023, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of this 
zoning change, and Staff concurs. 

 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
January 24, 2023 

Page 4 of 4 
 
 

15. Z-23-04 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Single 
Family-2 Residential (SF-2) to Two Family (2F) on 0.921 acres located at 507 
Ellis Avenue located in the Sallie J White Addition, Block 4, Lot 1.  

 
See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on January 17, 2023, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of this 
zoning change. Due to the incompatible surrounding uses, Staff recommends 
disapproval. 

 
16. P-22-31 – Consider a final plat of Rodriguez Estates Addition, comprising 4.36 

acres located at 1971 FM 1670. 
 

See Staff Report from Planner Tina Moore. At its meeting on January 17, 2023, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval of this final 
plat, and Staff concurs. 

 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time regarding any issue on 
this agenda for which it is legally permissible.  
 
If interpreter services for the deaf or hearing impaired are required, please contact the City Clerk at (254) 
933-5817 at least 48 hours in advance. 



Belton City Council Meeting 
January 10, 2023 – 5:30 P.M. 

 
The Belton City Council met in regular session in the Wright Room of the Harris Community 
Center. Members present included Mayor Wayne Carpenter, Mayor Pro Tem David K. Leigh, 
Councilmembers Craig Pearson, Dan Kirkley, Daniel Bucher and Stephanie O’Banion. 
Councilmember John R. Holmes, Sr., was absent. Staff present included Sam Listi, John 
Messer, Amy Casey, Gene Ellis, Mike Rodgers, Tina Moore, Chris Brown, Charlotte Walker, 
Matt Bates, Judy Garrett, Bob van Til, Tina Moore, Cynthia Hernandez and Jo-Ell Guzman.  
 
The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag was led by Mayor Wayne Carpenter, and the 
pledge to the Texas Flag was led by City Manager Sam Listi. The Invocation was given by 
Mayor Pro Tem David K. Leigh. 
 
1. Call to order. Mayor Carpenter called the meeting to order at 5:31 p.m. 
 
2. Public Comments. (Audio 2:00) 

 
Troy Finley, 702 S. Pearl, spoke on issues with his property. He also spoke regarding a 
previous tax sale in which the City bid on a property. 
 
There were no other comments. 

 
Presentations 
 
3. Recognize the City of Belton’s Finance Department for receiving the Distinguished 

Budget Presentation Award from the Government Finance Officers Association 
(GFOA) for the 31st consecutive year. (Audio 5:12) 

 
City Manager Sam Listi recognized Director of Finance Mike Rodgers and Senior 
Accountants Megan Odiorne and Christina Sparks who accepted the award on behalf of 
the Belton Finance Department. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 4-7 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may be 
enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be removed 
from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any Councilmember, and it will be 
considered separately. (Audio 8:21) 
 
4. Consider minutes of December 13, 2022, City Council Meeting. 
 
5. Consider appointments to the following Boards/Commissions: 

 
A. Belton Economic Development Corporation Board of Directors (replace Matt 

Wood with Marion Grayson) 
B. Bell County Public Health District Board of Directors (replace Wayne Carpenter 

with Charla Peters) 



Belton City Council Meeting 
January 10, 2023 – Page 2  
 

  

C. Central Texas Housing Consortium Board of Directors (reappoint Linda Angel) 
D. Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Board of Directors (reappoint David K. Leigh 

and Craig Pearson, and replace Blair Williams with Barbara Bozon) 
E. Ethics Commission (replace Khang Duong with Brooke Morrow representing 

Daniel Bucher) 
F. Building and Standards Commission (reappoint Ralph Masters as alternate) 
 

6.    Consider authorizing the purchase of three (3) pickups from various Purchasing 
Cooperatives as provided for in the Equipment Replacement Fund: 

 
A. Ford F-150/F-250 or equal truck for the Parks Department 
B. Ford F-150/F-250 or equal truck for the Parks Department 
C. Ford F-250 or equal 4x4 truck for the Sewer Department 
 

7. Consider a resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of Addendum #5 to the 
Amended and Restated Water Supply Contract with Bell County Water Control and 
Improvement District No. 1, in connection with the issuance of the District’s Water 
System Revenue Bonds, Series 2022, concerning Belton’s additional cost share in 
the Standby Power Generation Project at the Water Plant, in the approximate 
amount of $135,000. 

 
Upon a motion by Mayor Pro Tem Leigh, and a second by Councilmember O’Banion, the 
Consent Agenda, including the following captioned resolution, was unanimously approved 
upon a vote of 6-0. 
 

                RESOLUTION 2023-01-R 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AN ADDENDUM NO. 5 TO THE 
AMENDED AND RESTATED WATER SUPPLY CONTRACT. 
 
 Miscellaneous 

 
8. Hold a public hearing to receive comments on the Community Development Block 

Grant funded East Street Waterline Improvements Project. (Audio 11:34) 
  

Director of Public Works Matt Bates presented this item. 
 
Public Hearing: No one spoke for or against the item. 
 
No action was required of the Council on this item. 
 

9. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance regulating short-term rentals. 
(Audio 15:15) 

 
Director of Planning Bob van Til presented this item. 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
January 10, 2023 – Page 3  
 

  

Public Hearing: 
 
• Jeremiah Vanblaricom, 704 Estate Drive: spoke in favor of STR regulation. 
• Thomas Dworakowski, 1809 Dancing Oaks Court: not against STR regulation but 

would like to allow STR property owner input in the construction of the regulations. 
• Paul Strang, 3239 Lake Park Road: spoke against STR regulation. 
• Tanner Hicks, 114 E. 10th Avenue: spoke against STR regulation.  
• Amanda Langan, 400 E. 22nd Avenue: spoke against STR regulation; emphasized the 

difference between an owner-occupied STR and an investment STR owner (“vacation 
rental”).  

• Eric Seidel, 7535 Sparta Road: spoke against STR regulation. 
• Amy Weir, 6141 Franklin Road, Moody (property manager): spoke against STR 

regulation and would like property owner/property manager input in the construction of 
the regulations. 

• Paul Crane, 1313 Live Oak Drive: spoke against STR regulation; should allow input 
from owners on regulation requirement. 

• Dominica Garza, 3012 Mystic Mountain: spoke in favor of regulation of STRs but less 
“overreaching” than what was presented; thinks the 500’ between STRs seemed 
inequitable; she feels that the Central Business District should be exempted from the 
distance requirement altogether; believes that property owner input would be valuable. 

 
Councilmember Pearson made a motion for postponement of the item until issues raised 
have been addressed by the Ordinance Review Committee. Councilmember O’Banion 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved upon a vote of 6-0. 
 

10. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services 
agreement with Lee Engineering related to the S. Main Street Transportation Study 
(Audio 1:01:38) 
 
Director of Planning Bob van Til presented this item. 
 
Upon a motion for approval by Mayor Pro Tem Leigh, and a second by Councilmember 
Kirkley, the contract with Lee Engineering was unanimously approved upon a vote of 6-0. 

 
Executive Session  
 
At 6:45 p.m., the Mayor announced the Council would go into Executive Session for the 
following items: 
 
11. Executive Session pursuant to the provision of the Open Meetings Law, Chapter 551, 

Govt. Code, Vernon's Texas Codes Annotated, in accordance with the authority contained 
in Section 551.074, Personnel - conduct an evaluation of the City Manager’s performance. 

 



Belton City Council Meeting 
January 10, 2023 – Page 4  
 

  

The Mayor reopened the meeting at 8:15 p.m., and there being no further business, the 
meeting was adjourned. 
 
 
 

_____________________________  
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________  
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 1   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #4 
 
Consider a resolution nominating the City’s candidate for election to the Board of Directors 
of the Central Texas Water Supply Corporation. 
 
 
Originating Department 
 
Administration – Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
Background 
 
Scott Hodde, Assistant Director of Public Works, is currently serving as the City’s 
representative on the Central Texas Water Supply Corporation Board of Directors. The 
Director of Public Works is recommending Mr. Hodde continue in this role representing the 
City on this board. 
 
 
Fiscal Impact:  None 
 
 
Recommendation: Recommend approval of the appointment. 
 
 
Attachments 
Resolution 
Timeline 
Conflict of Interest Statement 



RESOLUTION 2023-02-R 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
NOMINATING A CANDIDATE FOR ELECTION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
THE CENTRAL TEXAS WATER SUPPLY CORPORATION. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Belton is a Regular Member of the Central Texas Water Supply 
Corporation as a direct result of entering into a water sales and purchase contract with 
the Central Texas Water Supply Corporation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the By-Laws of the Central Texas Water Supply Corporation stipulate that, 
at the Annual Meeting of the members, each Regular Member shall be entitled to 
nominate an individual to serve on the Board of Directors of Central Texas Water Supply 
Corporation, provided that the nominee is not in violation of the Central Texas Water 
Supply Corporation Conflict of Interest Policy; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Belton has determined that it would be in its best interest to have 
such a voting member on the Central Texas Water Supply Corporation Board of Directors 
and does desire to have such a Board Member elected at the April 25, 2023, meeting by 
the members of Central Texas Water Supply Corporation. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BELTON, TEXAS, that Scott Hodde be and is hereby nominated for election to the Board 
of Directors of Central Texas Water Supply Corporation at the April 26, 2022, meeting of 
the members of Central Texas Water Supply Corporation. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED ON THIS THE 24th DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
            Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk                                                             



TIMELINE FOR EVENTS LEADING UP TO ANNUAL MEETING 
April 25, 2023 

 
 
 
120 DAYS PRIOR 

 
 
 
 
 
90 DAYS PRIOR 
January 25, 2023 

 
 
 

 
90 DAYS PRIOR 
January 25, 2023 

 
 
30 DAYS PRIOR 
March 24, 2023 

 
 
15 – 25 DAY PRIOR 
April 10, 2023 

 
 

10 – 1 DAYS PRIOR 
April 15, 2023 

 
DAY OF ANNUAL MEETING 
April 25, 2023 

President of the Board verifies that there are 
three (3) directors appointed to the 
standing Credentials Committee. The 
Secretary of the Board will be the Chairperson 
of the Credentials Committee. 

 
Voting procedure changes, as needed are 
submitted by the Credentials Committee as an 
agenda item for the board to consider at the 
next Monthly Meeting. 

 
Resolution forms and Conflict of Interest 
Policy are emailed to membership by the 
Corporation Office. 

 
Resolution forms are due in Corporation Office 
by membership. 

 
 
Membership and Board of Directors Annual 
Meeting packets are mailed by the Corporation 
Office. 

 
 
Credentials Committee meets to verify the 
Resolutions submitted by the membership. 

 
30 minutes prior to the Annual Meeting, 
Credentials Committee meets to resolve any 
issues pertaining to the resolutions submitted 
by the membership. 



CENTRAL TEXAS WATER SUPPLY CORPORATION 

CONFLICT-OF-INTEREST POLICY 
March 20, 2018 

PART 1. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DEFINED: 

1. Members of the CTWSC Board of Directors shall be elected by a member entity of the 
corporation.  They shall be eligible to serve unless: 

 
 

A.  He or she is representing more than one regular member as a Director. 
 

B. He or she is a developer of property within the service area of the corporation. 
 

C. He or she is an employee of any developer of property within the service area of 
the corporation. 

 

D.  He or she is an employee of any director, manager, engineer, or attorney for the 
corporation. 

 

E. He or she is serving as a consultant, engineer, attorney, manager, or in any other 
professional capacity for the corporation or for a developer of property within 
the service area of the corporation. 

 

F. He or she is a party to a contract with the corporation, except a contract for the 
purchase of water/sewer services furnished by the corporation to the 
corporation’s members generally, or 

 

G. He or she is a part of a contract with any developer of property within the 
service area of the corporation, other than conveying real property within the 
service area of the corporation for the purpose of establishing a residence or 
establishing a commercial business within the service area of the corporation. 

 

H.  He or she is a member of the immediate family of any director of the corporation 
or of any other person serving in a managerial capacity, as attorney, accountant, 
or an engineer on behalf of the corporation or if he or she serves as a director or 
as an officer for any bank or financial institution retained as a depository for the 
funds of the corporation, or any bank or entity which holds any indebtedness of 
the corporation. 

 

 

Page 1         Revised 3.20.18 



 

            2. A Responsible Person is disqualified from employment by the corporation if he or she is 
a member of the immediate family of any director of the corporation or any other 
person employed by the corporation or managerial capacity on behalf of the 
corporation. 

3. Any Responsible Person of the corporation shall engage in any transaction as a 
representative or agent of the corporation with any business entity in which they, their 
immediate family, or any business partners have a direct or indirect financial interest 
that might conflict with the proper discharge of their duties or responsibilities. 

4. No Responsible Person of the corporation shall be entitled to any compensation for or in 
consideration of the execution of his duties as such officer of director, provided, 
however that the actual, reasonable expenses of any officer of director incurred on the 
business of the corporation may, with approval of the board of directors, be paid to 
them.  

5 No Responsible Person of the corporation shall: 

 A.  Solicit or accept or agree to accept a financial and/or material benefit, that might   
reasonably tend to influence his or her performance of duties for the corporation or 
that he or she knows or should know is offered with the intent to influence the officer’s 
or director’s performance of his or her duties. 

B. Accept employment or compensation that might reasonably induce him or her to    
                             disclose confidential information acquired in the performance of official duties. 
               C. Accept outside employment or compensation that might reasonably be expected to 

 create a substantial conflict between the officer’s and director’s private interest and                                                                                                                                 
duties of the corporation; or 

 D. Solicit or accept or agree a financial benefit from another person in exchange for having 
                             performed duties as an officer or director of the corporation in favor of the person. 
 
6. The board of directors may accept on behalf of the corporation any contribution, gift, bequest, 

or devise for the general purpose or for any special purpose of the corporation, provided, 
however, that the board of directors may reject any donation made upon a condition or 
restriction if in the discretion of the board of directors the acceptance of the donation as so 
conditioned or restricted will not be in the best interest of the corporation. 

 
7. The removal of any director of the corporation because of disqualification under this policy shall 

not affect the validity of directors during the time of service by that director, even though the 
director may have been acting under the disqualification at the time of such service. 

 
 
 Page 2 
 



8. If at any time any officer or director is required to vote in his or her capacity as a director on an 
issue which may create a conflict of interest, which may be deemed a conflict of interest by the 
board, or which may be interpreted by the members as a conflict of interest, the officer or 
director shall abstain from voting, as a matter of record, on that issue. 

 
9.  The policy provisions do not apply to contract for personal or professional services or for a utility 

service operator. 
 
PART II. DEFINITIONS: 
 
 A. A “Conflict of Interest” is any circumstance described in Part I of this Policy. 
 

B. A “Responsible Person” is any person serving as an officer, director, employee, or  
member of the Board of Directors of Central Texas Water Supply Corporation. 

 
C.  A “Family Member” is a spouse, domestic partner, sibling, parent, grandparent, or 

grandchild or a Responsible Person.  This includes step parents, step children, step 
siblings, and adoptive relationships. 

 
D.  A “Material Financial Interest” in an entity is a financial interest of any kind, which, in 

view of all of the circumstances, is substantial enough that it would, or reasonably 
could, affect a Responsible Person’s or Family Member’s judgement with respect to 
transactions to which the entity is a party.  This includes all forms of compensation. 

 
E.  A “developer” is any person who is an owner, shareholder, director, officer, partner or 

employee of a business entity engaged in the business of selling or leasing, or offering to 
sell or lease, or advertising for sale or lease, any lots in a subdivision. 

 
F. A “Contract or Transaction” is any agreement or relationship involving the sale or 

purchase of goods, services, or rights of any kind, the providing or receipt of a loan or 
grant, the establishment of any other type of pecuniary relationship, or review of a 
charitable organization by Central Texas Water Supply Corporation.  The making of a gift 
to Central Texas Water Supply Corporation is not a Contact or Transaction. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 3 



City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 1   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #5 
     
Consider a resolution declaring that the updated January 1, 2023, population estimate for the 
City of Belton is 25,466. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Summary Information 
 
The Planning Department staff has prepared a revised population estimate using data 
available from the U.S. Census Bureau, combined with local building permits and annexation 
data from 2020 to present. More specifically, a total dwelling unit count, an occupied unit 
count, and an average persons per household multiplier was applied to determine the 
estimate. The appropriate vacancy rate was also utilized, also from the 2020 Census. 

 
This estimate represents a standard and conservative methodology used to determine a 
population estimate in the years between the decennial Census of Population and Housing. 
Council requested we prepare this estimate annually, utilizing the accepted estimation 
methodology, to keep us informed of population growth in the years between the decennial 
Census. It is important to estimate population growth to evaluate services, plan for the future, 
and develop updated economic development marketing materials for the community. 
 
According to the 2022 population estimate, there has been a 9.47% increase in population 
since the 2020 Census estimate, up from 23,054. The 2020 U.S. Census data was published 
in October 2020.  
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend approval of the proposed resolution declaring an updated population for the City 
of Belton to be 25,466. 
 
Attachments 
Resolution with Population Estimate Calculations 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, FINDING 
THAT THERE ARE 25,466 RESIDENTS WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY 
OF BELTON AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETING CLAUSE. 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the 2020 Federal Census declared that the City’s population was 23,054; 
however, based on annexations since the census, and growth within the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with the attached population estimate exhibit, the City’s 
housing unit count method estimated a total 9,270 dwelling units, an occupancy rate of 
91.7%, and a per person household size estimated at 2.66, the Staff recommends the City 
Council find there are 25,466 residents within the City of Belton, as of January 1, 2023; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BELTON, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council declares that the statements contained in the preamble of this 
resolution are true and correct and are adopted as finding of fact, in accordance with the 
population estimate, attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes as Exhibit “A”. 
 
 Part 2: The City Council finds that there are 25,466 residents residing in the corporate 
limits of the City of Belton, Texas, as of January 1, 2023. 
 
 Part 3: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 24th day of January, 2023. 
 

THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS 
 
 

____________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:                                                       
 
 
____________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk  
  



City of Belton, Bell County, Texas
Belton Population Estimate for January 1, 2023

1 - Census Day Data (10/16/2020)

Federal Census 23,054 OCC%
Total Dwelling Units 8,648 Vacant= 7,934 91.74%
Occupancy rate 0.917
Occupied Dwelling Units 7,934  
Persons per household 2.66  
Persons per household/Totals 21,104
Persons in group quarters (1) 2,844

23,948
(1) - Long term care, jail, UMHB

2022 (10-1-21 to 9-30-2022) (2) Units
Single Family/ TH 234
Multifamily 0 Bldgs
Two-Family/Duplex 34 2 17
Manufactured Housing 4

Total 272

Total Dwelling Units Added
2021-2022 272

2021-2022 1

2021-2022 0

(2) Each year’s dwelling unit count is calculated through September since units with
permits obtained after September may not be completed and inhabited by the end of the
year.

2 - Dwelling Unit Additions Occ'd (SF, 2F, MF, MH)

3 - Dwelling Units Demolished (Calendar Year)

4 - Dwelling Units Added Due to Annexation

T:\City Hall\City Clerk\Agendas\Agendas-2023\01-24-2023\Staff Reports\#5c - 2023-03-R - Exhibit A - FINAL Annual Population Estimate - 
January 2023



City of Belton, Bell County, Texas
Belton Population Estimate for January 1, 2023

8,997
272

1
0

Total Dwelling Units 9,270

6 - Population Estimate  

Total Dwelling Units 9,270
Occupancy Rate 0.917
Occupied Dwelling Units (93.3%) 8,505  
Persons per Household (4/1/2020) 2.66
Persons per Household - Total 22,622
Persons in Group Quarters 2,844
Population Estimate: 1/1/2022 25,466

2020 Census Population Estimate 23,054
Current Population Estimate 25,466

Difference 2,412
% Change 9.47%

Dwelling Units Demolished (10/1/2021 - 9/30/2022)
Dwelling Units Annexed

7 - Estimated Overall increase in Population from 2020 Census

Dwelling Units as of Jan. 1, 2022
Dwelling Units added (10/1/2021 - 9/30/2022)

5 - Estimated Total Occ'd Dwelling Units as of 12/31/2021

T:\City Hall\City Clerk\Agendas\Agendas-2023\01-24-2023\Staff Reports\#5c - 2023-03-R - Exhibit A - FINAL Annual Population Estimate - 
January 2023



 
 

CITY MANAGER AGREEMENT 
City of Belton, Texas 

 
 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
COUNTY OF BELL  § 
 
  
 This Agreement, superseding the Agreement entered into on March 9, 2021, by 
the following parties, is made and entered into on this 24th day of January, 2023, by and 
between the City of Belton, Texas, a municipal corporation, (hereinafter called “City”) and 
Sam Anthony Listi, (hereinafter called “Manager”).  
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton (the “Council”) and the Manager 
believe that an employment agreement negotiated between the Council, on behalf of the 
City, and the Manager can be mutually beneficial to the City, the Manager, and the 
community they serve; 
 
 WHEREAS, when appropriately structured, the Council and the Manager believe 
an employment agreement can strengthen the Council-Manager relationship by 
enhancing the excellence and continuity of the management of the City for the benefit of 
its citizens;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Council, on behalf of the City, desires to employ the services of 
the Manager, as the City Manager of the City (“City Manager”), pursuant to the terms, 
conditions, and provisions of this Agreement;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Manager has agreed to accept employment as the City Manager, 
and to serve at the pleasure of the City Council, subject to the terms, conditions, and 
provisions of this Agreement.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Manager, for and in consideration of the terms, 
conditions and provisions hereinafter established have agreed, and do hereby agree, as 
follows:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Section 1: Term P. 1 
Section 2: Duties and Authority P. 1 
Section 3: Compensation P. 1 
Section 4: Health, Dental and Life Insurance Benefits P. 1 
Section 5: Vacation and Sick Leave P. 2 
Section 6: Vehicle Allowance P. 2 
Section 7: Retirement P. 2 
Section 8: General Business Expenses P. 2 
Section 9: Termination P. 3 
Section 10: Severance P. 4 
Section 11: Resignation P. 4 
Section 12: Performance Evaluation P. 4 
Section 13: Hours of Work P. 5 
Section 14: Outside Activities P. 5 
Section 15: Residency P. 5 
Section 16: Indemnification P. 5 
Section 17: Bonding P. 6 
Section 18: Other Terms and Conditions of Employment P. 6 
Section 19: Notices P. 6 
Section 20: General Provisions P. 6 

 
  



 
 

Section 1: Term 
 
This Agreement shall be indefinite and remain in full force in effect from the Effective 
Date, until terminated by the City or the Manager as provided in Sections 9, 10 or 11 of 
this agreement.  
 
Section 2: Duties and Authority 
 
City agrees to employ Sam Anthony Listi as City Manager to perform the functions and 
duties specified in the Charter and Ordinances of the City of Belton, and to perform such 
other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as authorized and directed by 
the Council.  
 
Section 3: Compensation 
 
A. Base Salary: City agrees to pay Manager an annual base salary of $196,321, payable 
in installments in accordance with the City’s usual payroll schedule.  
 
B. Consideration shall be given on an annual basis to an increase in compensation, and 
increases in compensation shall be dependent upon the results of a performance 
evaluation conducted pursuant to the provisions of Section 12 of this Agreement. 
Increased compensation may take the form of a salary increase and/or an increase in 
fringe benefits.  
 
C. This Agreement shall be automatically amended to reflect any salary adjustments that 
are authorized by the Council.  
 
Section 4: Health, Disability and Life Insurance Benefits 
 
A. The City agrees to provide for medical insurance benefits for the Manager equal to that 
which is provided to all other employees of the City.  
 
B. The City agrees to provide for the life insurance benefits for the Manager equal to that 
which is provided to all other employees of the City.  
 
C. The Manager may elect to submit once per calendar year to a complete physical 
examination, including a cardiovascular examination, by a qualified physician selected by 
the Manager, the cost of which shall be paid by the City.  
 
D. The Manager is automatically entitled to any other standard benefits available to 
employees of the City as may now exist or be made available during the term of this 
Agreement.  
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

Section 5: Vacation and Sick Leave 
 
A. The Manager shall accrue vacation and sick leave in accordance with the other non-
civil service employees.  
 
B. The Manager is entitled to accrue unused sick and vacation leave up to the maximum 
accruals set forth in the City’s personnel policy.  
 
C. Manager is automatically entitled to any other standard leave available to non-civil 
service employees of the City as may now exist or be made available during the term of 
this contract.  
 
Section 6: Vehicle Allowance 
 
The City agrees to pay to the Manager, during the term of this Agreement and in addition 
to other salary and benefits herein provided, the sum of $7,500 per year as a vehicle 
allowance to be used to purchase, lease, or own, operate and maintain a personal vehicle. 
The vehicle allowance shall be paid in equal payments on a monthly basis. The Manager 
shall be responsible for paying for liability, property damage, and comprehensive 
insurance coverage upon such vehicle and shall further be responsible for gas, oil and all 
expenses attendant to the purchase, operation, maintenance, repair, and regular 
replacement of said vehicle. The City shall reimburse the Manager at the established 
mileage rate for any business use of the vehicle beyond 140 round-trip miles.  
 
Section 7: Retirement 
 
A. The City agrees to maintain the Manager’s enrollment in the Texas Municipal 
Retirement System (TMRS), and to make all the appropriate City contributions on the 
Manager’s behalf.  
 
B. In addition to the City’s payment to the state retirement system referenced above, City 
agrees to execute all necessary agreements provided by the Mission Square (formerly 
ICMA Retirement Corporation (ICMA-RC)) deferred compensation plan or as directed by 
City Manager for Manager’s continued participation in said supplementary retirement plan 
and, in addition to the base salary paid by the City to Manager, City agrees to pay an 
amount equal to eight percent (8%) of Manager’s base annual salary, in equal 
proportionate amounts each pay period.  
 
C. Manager is automatically entitled to any other standard retirement benefits available 
to employees of the City as may now exist or be made available during the term of this 
contract.  
 
Section 8: General Business Expenses 
 
A. City agrees to pay for professional dues and subscriptions of the Manager necessary 
for full participation in national, regional, state and local associations and organizations 



 
 
 

necessary for the Manager’s continued professional growth and advancement, and for 
the good of the City.  
 
B. City agrees to pay for travel and subsistence expenses of Manager for professional 
and official travel, meetings, and occasions to adequately continue the professional 
development of Manager and to pursue necessary official functions for City, including but 
not limited to conferences hosted by ICMA, American Planning Association, and such 
other national, regional, state, and local governmental groups and committees in which 
Manager serves as a member.  
 
C. City agrees to pay for tuition, registration fees, and travel and subsistence expenses 
of Manager for short courses, institutes, and seminars that are necessary for the 
Manager’s professional development and for the good of the City.  
 
D. City acknowledges the value of having Manager participate and be directly involved in 
local civic clubs and organizations. Accordingly, City agrees to pay for the reasonable 
membership fees and/or dues to enable the Manager to become an active member in 
local/regional civic clubs and organizations.  
 
E. Technology: The City shall provide Manager with the use of a computer and a cell 
phone required for the Manager to perform the job and to maintain communication with 
the Council and City staff.  
 
Section 9: Termination 
 
For the purpose of this agreement, termination shall occur if: 
 
A. A majority of the governing body votes to terminate the Manager at a duly authorized 
public meeting.  
 
B. The Manager resigns following a request to resign made by representatives of the 
majority of the Council.  
 
C. The City, citizens or state legislature acts to amend any provisions of the Charter of 
the City of Belton or Belton Codified Ordinances pertaining to the role, powers, duties, 
authority, or responsibilities of the Manager’s position that substantially changes the form 
of government.  
 
D. The City reduces the base salary, compensation, or any other financial benefit of the 
Manager, unless it is applied in no greater percentage than the average reduction of all 
department heads.  
 
E. Breach of contract is declared by either party with a 30-day cure period for either 
Manager or City. Written notice of a breach of contract shall be provided in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 19.  
 



 
 
 

Section 10: Severance 
 
Severance shall be paid to the Manager when employment is terminated as defined in 
Section 9.  
 
If the Manager is terminated, the City shall provide a minimum severance payment equal 
to 12 months’ salary at the current rate of pay. This severance shall be paid in a lump 
sum unless otherwise agreed to by the City and the Manager.  
 
The Manager shall also be compensated for accrued earned vacation time and all paid 
holidays.  
 
For a period of three months following the date of termination, the City shall pay the costs 
to continue the following benefits:  
 
 1. Health insurance for the Manager as provided in Section 4A; 
 2. Life insurance as provided in Section 4B; 
 3. Car allowance as provided in Section 6;  

 4. Any other standard benefits available to employees of the City as provided in 
Section 4D.  

 
If the Manager is terminated because of a conviction of a misdemeanor involving moral 
turpitude or personal gain or a felony, then the City is not obligated to pay severance 
under this section.  
 
Section 11: Resignation 
 
In the event that the Manager voluntarily resigns his position with the City, the Manager 
shall provide the City not less than 30 days’ advance written notice of his resignation, 
unless the parties agree otherwise.  
 
Section 12: Performance Evaluation 
 
City shall annually review the performance of the Manager following the conclusion of the 
City’s fiscal year. The evaluation process, at a minimum, shall include the opportunity for 
both parties to: (1) prepare a written evaluation, (2) meet and discuss the evaluation, (3) 
present a written summary of the evaluation results, and (4) conduct a goal-setting 
session. The final written evaluation should be completed and delivered to the Manager 
within 30 days of the evaluation meeting.  
 
Adjustments to the Manager’s compensation package based on the results of the 
performance evaluation shall be effective on the first day of the fiscal year following the 
review period. Illustrated: Manager is reviewed by the Council on February 15, 20X2 for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 20X1. Therefore, any adjustments to the Manager’s 
compensation will be effective as of October 1, 20X1.  
 



 
 
 

Section 13: Hours of Work 
 
It is expected that the Manager will typically work during normal City Hall office hours. 
However, it is recognized that the Manager must devote a great deal of time outside those 
normal office hours on business for the City. Accordingly, and to that end, Manager may 
establish his own work schedule, subject to reasonable direction by City. Manager is not 
eligible for overtime nor will be paid compensatory hours.  
 
Section 14: Outside Activities 
 
The employment provided for by this Agreement shall be the Manager’s sole employment. 
Recognizing that certain outside consulting or teaching opportunities provide indirect 
benefits to the City and the community, the Manager may elect to accept limited teaching, 
consulting, or other business opportunities as long as such arrangements do not interfere 
with, or cause a conflict of interest with, Manager’s responsibilities pursuant to this 
Agreement.  
 
Section 15: Residency  
 
Manager agrees to maintain his residence within the corporate boundaries of the City 
during his employment with the City.  
 
Section 16: Indemnification 
 
City shall defend, save harmless and indemnify Manager against any tort, professional 
liability claim or demand or other legal action, whether groundless or otherwise, arising 
out of an alleged act or omission occurring in the performance of and arising out of the 
course and scope of Manager’s duties as City Manager, or resulting from the exercise of 
judgment or discretion in connection with the performance of the duties or responsibilities 
of the City Manager, unless the act or omission involved willful or wanton conduct. Legal 
representation, provided by City for Manager, shall extend until a final determination of 
the legal action including any appeals brought by either party. The City shall indemnify 
Manager against any and all losses, damages, judgments, interest, settlements, fines, 
court costs and other reasonable costs and expenses of legal proceedings including 
attorneys’ fees, and any other liabilities incurred by, imposed upon, or suffered by such 
Manager in connection with or resulting from any claim, action, suit, or proceeding, actual 
or threated, arising out of or in connection with the performance of his duties and occurring 
within the course and scope of his employment. Any settlement of any claim must be 
made with prior approval of the City in order for indemnification, as provided in this 
Section, to be available.  
 
City agrees to pay Manager’s reasonable litigation expenses, including travel expense, 
throughout the pendency of any litigation to which the Manager is a party or witness. Such 
expense payments shall continue beyond Manager’s service to the City as long as the 
litigation is pending.  
 



 
 
 

Section 17: Bonding 
 
City shall bear the full cost of any fidelity or other bonds required of the Manager under 
any law or ordinance, and professional liability insurance. 
 
Section 18: Other Terms and Conditions of Employment 
 
The City, upon agreement with Manager, may provide for such other terms and conditions 
of employment as it may determine from time to time relating to the performance and 
duties of the Manager, provided such terms and conditions are not inconsistent with or in 
conflict with the provisions of this Agreement, the Charter of the City of Belton, or 
applicable law.  
 
Section 19: Notices 
 
Notice pursuant to this Agreement shall be given by depositing in the custody of the 
United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:  
 
 CITY:      MANAGER: 
 City of Belton     Sam Anthony Listi 
 PO BOX 120, 333 Water Street  311 Oak Street 
 Belton, TX 76513    Belton, TX 76513 
 
Alternatively, notice required pursuant to this Agreement may be personally served in the 
same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as 
of the date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the 
course of transmission in the United States Postal Service.  
 
Section 20: General Provisions 
 
A. Integration. This Agreement sets forth and establishes the entire understanding 
between the City and the Manager relating to the employment of the Manager by the City. 
Any prior discussions or representations by or between the parties are merged into and 
rendered null and void by this Agreement. The parties by mutual written agreement may 
amend any provision of this agreement during the life of the agreement. Such 
amendments shall be incorporated and made a part of this Agreement.  
 
B. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding on the City and the Manager as well 
as his heirs, assigns, executors, personal representatives, and successors in interest.  
 
C. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on October 1, 2022.  
 
D. Severability. The invalidity of any portion of this Agreement will not affect the validity 
of any other provision. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held to be 
invalid, the remaining provisions shall be deemed to be in full force and effect as if they 



 
 
 

have been executed by both parties subsequent to the expungement or judicial 
modification of the invalid provision.   
 
Adopted and approved by the Belton City Council on this 24th day of January, 2023. 
 
City of Belton, Texas: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
 
Approved as to Form:     Attest: 
 
 
______________________________   __________________________ 
John Messer, City Attorney    Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
AGREED AND ACCEPTED: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Sam Anthony Listi 



City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 1   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #7 
     
Consider approval of the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) Annual Report for 2022. 
  
Originating Department 
 
Finance Department – Mike Rodgers, Director of Finance  
 
Summary Information 
 
Per Article I, Section 2 of the Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1 (TIRZ) Bylaws, 
the TIRZ Board and City Council must annually review any financial statements of the Zone. 
Attached is the 2022 annual financial report for the TIRZ.  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
None 
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend approval of TIRZ 2022 Annual Report, for submission to the State of Texas 
 
Attachments 
Presentation 
2022 Annual Report 
Comptroller Filing 



TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE (TIRZ) 
ANNUAL REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022

1



TAXABLE PROPERTY VALUES WITHIN THE ZONE

$0

$50,000,000

$100,000,000

$150,000,000

$200,000,000

$250,000,000

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Actual Increment per FY TIRZ Plan per FY

2



ZONE PARTICIPATION

Taxing Jurisdiction
2021 Captured
Taxable Value

Tax Rate
Per $100

2021 Tax Year
Levy

2021 Tax Year
Collections

City of Belton (100%) $246,638,226 $0.6300 $1,553,820 $1,566,770

Bell County (100%) $246,100,158 $0.3680 $905,648 $905,648

Total $2,459,468 $2,482,768

3



PROJECTS FINANCED DURING FISCAL YEAR 2022

 Four façade improvement grants
 The Salon and Spa at Greenbriar
 BeYoutiful Salon
 Platinum Tax Advisory
 Woodhouse Day Spa

 South Belton shared use path
 Heritage Park improvements
 Library enhancements

4



COMBINED 
BALANCE SHEET

5

ASSETS:
Cash and Investments 5,907,298$ 

Total Assets 5,907,298$ 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE:
Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 325,468      
Total Liabilities 325,468      

Fund Balance:
Restricted - Operations 1,001,077   
Restricted - Capital Projects 4,580,753   

Total Fund Balance 5,581,830   
Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 5,907,298$ 



COMBINED 
INCOME STATEMENT

6

Revenues:
City Taxes 1,566,770$ 
County Taxes 915,998      
Grant Receipts 272,608      
Interest 42,629        
Transfers In 454,000      

Total Revenues 3,252,005$ 

Expenditures
Debt Service / Administrative Costs 402,390$    
Public Improvements 942,359      
Façade Renovations 32,549        
Consulting 37,220        
Other 32,530        

Total Expenditures 1,447,048$ 

Net Change in Fund Balance 1,804,957$ 

Beginning Fund Balance 3,776,873$ 
Ending Fund Balance 5,581,830$ 



BUDGET  
TO ACTUAL 
COMPARISON

7

Variance
Revenues: Budget Actual From Budget

City Taxes 1,553,820$ 1,566,770$ 12,950$      
County Taxes 981,110      915,998      (65,112)       
Interest 4,000          11,959        7,959          

Total Revenues 2,538,930$ 2,494,727$ (44,203)$     

Expenditures
Consulting 37,220$      37,220$      -$                
Debt Service 402,710      402,390      (320)            
Façade Grants 87,780        32,549        (55,231)       
Transfer to General Fund 32,530        32,530        -              
Transfer to Capital Project Funds 1,650,000   1,650,000   -              

Total Expenditures 2,210,240$ 2,154,689$ (55,551)$     

Net Change in Fund Balance 328,690$    340,038$    11,348$      



FUTURE DEBT REQUIREMENTS

2019 Refunding Annual Totals

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2023 $255,000 $10,200 $255,000 $10,200 $265,200

Totals $255,000 $10,200 $255,000 $10,200 $265,200

8



RECOMMENDATION

 Staff recommends approval of the annual report

9



City of Belton, Texas 
 

Belton Tax Increment 
 Reinvestment Zone No. 1 

 
 
 

2022 ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 



City of Belton, Texas 
Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone, No. 1 

 
As of September 30, 2022 

Belton TIRZ No. 1   
Annual Report 2022 

Page 2 of 8 
 

CONTENTS 
 Page 
 
Highlights of the fiscal year 3 

Combined balance sheet  4 

Combined income statement 5 

Budget to actual comparison  6 

Annual report 7 

 



City of Belton, Texas 
Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone, No. 1 

 
As of September 30, 2022 

Belton TIRZ No. 1   
Annual Report 2022 

Page 3 of 8 
 

HIGHLIGHTS OF FISCAL YEAR 2022 
 
Current Board members are:  Chair David K. Leigh, Councilmember Craig Pearson, Bell County 
Judge David Blackburn, Bell County Commissioner Russell Schneider, and Blair Williams. 
 
Projects financed with TIRZ funds during FY 2022 included: 

 Four façade improvement grants 

o The Salon and Spa at Greenbriar 

o BeYoutiful Salon 

o Platinum Tax Advisory 

o Woodhouse Day Spa 

 South Belton shared use path 

 Heritage Park improvements 

 Library enhancements 

 
In June 2022, the TIRZ Board approved the FY 2023 budget.  The TIRZ budget was adopted by 
the City Council on September 13, 2022.  A summary of expenditure items is shown below. 
 

FY 2023 Budgeted Expenditures         Amount 
 Consulting 
 Debt Service and Other Administrative 
 Façade Improvement Grant 

$    50,000 
   265,800 

     120,000 
 Retail Development Coordinator 35,410 
 Transfer to Capital Projects Fund 2,200,000 

 
Total $2,671,210 

 

 



City of Belton, Texas 
Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone, No. 1 

 
As of September 30, 2022 

Belton TIRZ No. 1   
Annual Report 2022 

Page 4 of 8 
 

COMBINED BALANCE SHEET 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2022 

 

   

ASSETS:
Cash and Investments 5,907,298$ 

Total Assets 5,907,298$ 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE:
Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 325,468      
Total Liabilities 325,468      

Fund Balance:
Restricted - Operations 1,001,077   
Restricted - Capital Projects 4,580,753   

Total Fund Balance 5,581,830   
Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 5,907,298$ 



City of Belton, Texas 
Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone, No. 1 

 
As of September 30, 2022 

Belton TIRZ No. 1   
Annual Report 2022 

Page 5 of 8 
 

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, 
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2022 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Revenues:
City Taxes 1,566,770$ 
County Taxes 915,998      
Grant Receipts 272,608      
Interest 42,629        
Transfers In 454,000      

Total Revenues 3,252,005$ 

Expenditures
Debt Service / Administrative Costs 402,390$    
Public Improvements 942,359      
Façade Renovations 32,549        
Consulting 37,220        
Other 32,530        

Total Expenditures 1,447,048$ 

Net Change in Fund Balance 1,804,957$ 

Beginning Fund Balance 3,776,873$ 
Ending Fund Balance 5,581,830$ 



City of Belton, Texas 
Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone, No. 1 

 
As of September 30, 2022 

Belton TIRZ No. 1   
Annual Report 2022 

Page 6 of 8 
 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, 
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 
TIRZ OPERATING FUND – BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2022 
 
 

  
  

 

Variance
Revenues: Budget Actual From Budget

City Taxes 1,553,820$ 1,566,770$ 12,950$      
County Taxes 981,110      915,998      (65,112)       
Interest 4,000          11,959        7,959          

Total Revenues 2,538,930$ 2,494,727$ (44,203)$     

Expenditures
Consulting 37,220$      37,220$      -$                
Debt Service 402,710      402,390      (320)            
Façade Grants 87,780        32,549        (55,231)       
Transfer to General Fund 32,530        32,530        -              
Transfer to Capital Project Funds 1,650,000   1,650,000   -              

Total Expenditures 2,210,240$ 2,154,689$ (55,551)$     

Net Change in Fund Balance 328,690$    340,038$    11,348$      



City of Belton, Texas 
Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone, No. 1 

 
As of September 30, 2022 

Belton TIRZ No. 1   
Annual Report 2022 

Page 7 of 8 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 
 

Chapter 311.016 of the Texas Tax Code requires the following information as part of the annual report on 
the status of the TIRZ District.  Information is contained in detail on the attached financial statements. 
 

1. Amount and source of revenue in the tax increment fund established for the zone: 
 

 $1,566,770 City Tax Receipts 
 915,998 County Tax Receipts 
 272,608 Grant Receipts 
 42,629 Interest on Investments 
 454,000 Transfers In 
  

$3,252,005 
 
Total Revenue 

 
 

 

 

2. Amount and purpose of expenditures from the fund: 
 $402,390 Debt Service and Administrative Costs 
 32,549 Façade Renovations 
 942,359 Public Improvements 
 37,220 Consulting 
 32,530 Other Costs 
  

$1,447,048 
 
Total Expenditures 

  
 

 
3. The TIRZ has $255,000 of bond indebtedness for one outstanding obligations: General 

Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019.  Final maturity will occur in FY 2023. 
 

 
 
 

Annual Totals
Fiscal
Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

FY 2023 255,000      10,200     255,000      10,200     265,200      

Totals 255,000$    10,200$   255,000$    10,200$   265,200$    

TIRZ Debt
- Schedule of Requirements -

2019 Refunding
TIRZ Portion



City of Belton, Texas 
Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone, No. 1 

 
As of September 30, 2022 

Belton TIRZ No. 1   
Annual Report 2022 

Page 8 of 8 
 

4. Tax increment base and current captured appraised value retained by the zone: 
 

Tax Year  City of Belton  Bell County 
Base Year Value (2004)  $62,900,954  $60,235,785 
Captured Increment:     

2005  12,618,404  12,600,362 
2006  14,068,032  14,065,858 
2007  8,177,172    8,160,583 
2008  11,798,628  11,727,196 
2009  5,135,833    5,109,684 
2010 
2011 

 2,686,858 
9,432,894 

   2,676,598 
9,434,006 

2012 
2013 

 11,106,627 
8,057,162 

 11,119,445 
8,067,930 

2014  6,573,184  6,556,071 
2015  13,243,960  13,222,994 
2016  7,834,359  7,813,550 
2017  10,906,855  10,836,636 
2018  15,456,639  15,423,448 
2019  50,938,045  49,745,518 
2020  38,914,557  39,886,698 
2021  19,689,017  19,653,581 
Total  $246,638,226  $246,100,158 

 
5. Captured appraised value by the municipality and other taxing units, the total amount of the 

tax increment received, and any additional information necessary to demonstrate compliance 
with the tax increment financing plan adopted by the governing body of the municipality. 
 
A. Captured appraised value shared by the municipality and other participating taxing jurisdictions 

received in FY 2022 (Tax Year 2021): 
 

Taxing  
Jurisdiction 

 Current Captured 
Appraised Value 

 Participation 
Per $100/Value 

 Amount of 
2021 Increment Levy 

City of Belton (100%)  $246,638,226  $  0.6300  $1,553,820 
Bell County (100%)    246,100,158      0.3680       905,648 

Total    $  0.9980  $2,459,468 
 
B. Amount of tax increment taxes received in FY 2022 from the municipality and the other taxing 

jurisdictions (including delinquent collections from prior years):   
 

City  $1,566,770 
County       915,998 
Total  $2,482,768 

 
C. Other information:  None  



Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts
Data Analysis and 

Transparency 
Form 50-806

The Data Analysis and Transparency Division at the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts  
provides information and resources for taxpayers and local taxing entities.

For more information, visit our website: 
comptroller.texas.gov/economy/local/ch311

50-806 • 6-18/6

Tax Increment Finance (TIF) Registry
Annual Report by Municipality or County

PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE, DO NOT WRITE IN SHADED AREAS.

Please fill out the complete form and attach other documentation (See Instructions on page 2.)

STEP 1: Contact Information

______________________________________________________
Name of designating taxing unit

_______________________________________________________   ____________________________________________________
Contact Person Title

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Current Mailing Address (number and street)

_________________________________________   ________________________________________   _______________________
City County ZIP Code

____________________________________  ____________________________________   __________________________________
Phone (xxx-xxx-xxxx) Fax Number (xxx-xxx-xxxx) Email Address

STEP 2:  Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Information

1. TIF Reinvestment zone name:  _______________________________________________________________________________________
 DO NOT USE ORDINANCE OR RESOLUTION NUMBERS FOR ZONE NAME (See instructions for “Proper Zone Naming Standards”)

2. Report for fiscal year beginning (YYYY) _______________ and ending (YYYY) _______________ .

3. Is the required documentation attached (check mark required to acknowledge):  Annual Report  

4. Has the termination date of the TIRZ been modified? (If “No” skip to question 5.)  Yes      No

 a. Original Termination Date (MM/DD/YYYY): _______________   b. Modified Termination Date (MM/DD/YYYY): _______________ . 
 
c. Attachment must include:  Modified Ordinance   d. Attachment must include:  Modified Project Plan and Finance Plan

5. Size of the TIF reinvestment zone in acres:  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  __________________________

6. Has the size of the zone increased or decreased since creation?:      Yes      No

7. If you answered “Yes” in question #6, please indicate which?      Increased      Decreased

8. Property types (select one only):      Residential      Commercial/Industrial  Both (commercial/industrial and residential)     

9. Have one or more abatements been given to business(es) to locate in the TIRZ (if  “No” then skip to question #10)?:      Yes      No

10. What are the individual account numbers assigned to each active abated property that is located in the TIRZ? Use a separate box for each abated property 
account number.

  

11. Types of improvement projects (check all that are in progress or have been completed):

Public Projects

  Public Buildings and Facilities   Roadwork

  Water/Sewer and Drainage   Parks   Other Infrastructure:  __________________________________________

Other Projects

  Facade Renovation   Parking   Historical Preservation

  Transit   Affordable Housing   Economic Development   Other:  __________________________  

50-806 • Rev.1-21/10

 City     County

comptroller.texas.gov/economy/local/ch311


Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts
Data Analysis and 

Transparency 
Form 50-806

 For more information, visit our website: comptroller.texas.gov/economy/local/ch311/ Page 2

50-806 • 6-18/6

 
 
For Q.12-Q.15 round to the nearest dollar. CANNOT leave any line blank for Q.12-Q.15, MUST provide at least a $0 for each line.

12. TIF fund balance (end of year):  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

13. List of fund revenues:
Total tax increments received . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Sales tax increments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Loans  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Sale of bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Sale of property  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

 TOTAL ANNUAL REVENUES  $  __________________________

14. List of fund expenditures:

Administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Property purchased  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Public improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Facade renovations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Parking . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Historic preservation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Transit  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Affordable housing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Economic development programs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

 TOTAL ANNUAL EXPENDITURES  $  __________________________
15. Bonded indebtedness:

Principal due  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Interest due  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

 TOTAL DEBT  $  __________________________

Fill out the three lines below if the TIRZ IS NOT divided into multiple sub-zones in the “lead taxing unit.”  If the zone has increased in size since it’s creation and is 
divided into multiple sub-zones: (a) identify the name of each sub-zone/section and (b) identify the TIRZ values, tax increment base and captured appraised value 
within that zone’s sub-zone. DO NOT INCLUDE numbers from “participating taxing units.”

16. Reinvestment zone values:

Tax increment base . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Current captured appraised value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Total appraised value (add above 2 lines together)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Name of the subdivision 1 (if applicable)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   __________________________

(Fill out section below only if the TIRZ has expanded. Each new property/area that is incorporated into the TIRZ is considered as a “sub-zone”)

50-806 • Rev.1-21/10



Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts
Data Analysis and 

Transparency 
Form 50-806

 For more information, visit our website: comptroller.texas.gov/economy/local/ch311/ Page 3

50-806 • 6-18/6

Instructions
State Law (Section Sec. 311.016, Tax Code) requires the governing body of a munici-
pality or county, on or before the 150th day following the end of its fiscal year, to 
submit a report on the status of a reinvestment zone created by the municipality or 
county to the chief executive officer of each taxing unit that levies property taxes 
on real property in the zone. A copy of this annual report along with this form must 
be submitted to the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts at the address below:

Comptroller of Public Accounts
Data Analysis and Transparency Division

Post Office Box 13528
Austin, Texas 78711-3528

For assistance or to request additional forms, call toll free, 1-844-519-5672. You 
may also obtain additional forms at comptroller.texas.gov/economy/local/ch311/
reporting.php. From a Telecommunication Device for the Deaf (TDD), call 1-800-
248-4099 or 512-463-4621.

 
Step 1: Contact information
This information provides the Comptroller information on the entity initiating 
the tax increment reinvestment zone and a contact person for the annual report. 
 
Step 2: Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Information

Q.1 - Please include the reinvestment zone name listed in the ordinance or 
resolution creating the zone. TIRZ name MUST before formatted in this man-
ner: City Name, TIRZ Name & Number such as City of Levelland TIRZ #1, City of 
Weimar Sunset TIRZ. 

Q.11 - Indicate all improvement projects in progress or completed within the zone.  
 
Q.12-Q.15 - List the TIF fund balance at the end of the fiscal year, all revenues 
received by the fund during the fiscal year, and all expenditures made by the 
fund during the fiscal year. List principal and interest due on bonded indebt-
edness, the tax increment base at the creation of the zone and the current 
captured appraised value (the increase in property value over the tax incre-
ment base.)

Step 3: Authorized User Name of Person Completing Form
The person typing their name here in the report should be the same person 
listed in Step 1 as the contact person.

Tax increment base . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Current captured appraised value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Total appraised value (add above 2 lines together)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Name of the sub-zone 2 (Use this field if zone has expanded) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   __________________________

Tax increment base . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Current captured appraised value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Total appraised value (add above 2 lines together)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Name of the sub-zone 3 (Use this field if zone has expanded) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   __________________________

Tax increment base . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Current captured appraised value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Total appraised value (add above 2 lines together)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  __________________________

Name of the sub-zone 4 (Use this field if zone has expanded) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   __________________________

STEP 3: Authorized Name of Person Completing Form

 
 
 

50-806 • Rev.1-21/10

 
 
 
 
 
 __________________________________________________  ____________________________________ ____________________

Authorized User Name Title Date

By typing my name below, I certify under penalty of perjury that I am authorized to execute this instrument and the information provided herein is true 
and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 

https://comptroller.texas.gov/economy


City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 1   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
Agenda Item #8 
 
Consider resolutions authorizing the submission of grant applications to the Office of the 
Governor, Criminal Justice Division, for the following: 
 
A. General Victim Assistance Grant, Victims of Crime Act; and 
B. In-Car Camera Upgrades.  
 
Originating Department 
 
Police Department – Gene Ellis, Assistant City Manager/Chief of Police 
Administration – Jo-Ell Guzman, Grants and Special Projects Coordinator 
 
Background 
 
A. The purpose of this item is to authorize staff to submit a grant application to the 

Criminal Justice Division of the Governor's Office for the renewal of the General Victim 
Assistance Grant Program, FY 2024-Victims of Crime Act (VOCA). 

 
The proposed grant anticipates expanding the crime victim's assistance program to 
include emergency needs funding, counseling services, training, and personnel cost for 
the Victim Assistance Liaison. The estimated cost is $96,365. The grant does not 
require matching funds. 

 
B. The purpose of this item is to authorize staff to submit a grant application to the 

Criminal Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program, FY 2024, for upgrades and 
accessories for 16 in-car camera systems at an estimated cost of $205,000. This grant 
does not require matching funds. 

 
Fiscal Impact 
 
Amount: No local match required 
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend the Council adopt the resolutions authorizing the grant applications.   
 
Attachments 
Resolutions 



RESOLUTION  NO. ___________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
APPROVING THE SUBMITTAL OF A GRANT APPLICATION TO THE GENERAL VICTIMS 
ASSISTANCE GRANT PROGRAM AND DESIGNATING AN AUTHORIZED OFFICIAL. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, finds it in the best interest of the 
citizens of Belton, Texas, that the Belton Victims Assistance Grant be operated for the 2024 
year; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, agrees that no matching funds are 
required by the grant program application; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas agrees that in the event of loss or 
misuse of the Office of the Governor funds, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, 
assures that the funds will be returned to the Office of the Governor in full. 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas designates the Belton City Manager 
as the grantee's authorized official. The authorized official is given the power to apply for, 
accept, reject, alter or terminate the grant on behalf of the applicant agency. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas 
approve the submission of the grant application for the Belton Victims Assistance Grant to 
the Office of the Governor. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED this the 13th day of January, 2023. 
 

THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-05-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
APPROVING THE SUBMITTAL OF A GRANT APPLICATION TO THE OFFICE OF THE 
GOVERNOR, CRIMINAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT, AND DESIGNATING AN 
AUTHORIZED OFFICIAL. 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, finds that it is in the best interest 
of the citizens of Belton, Texas, for the City to submit a grant application to the Office of 
the Governor, Criminal Justice Assistance Grant for In-Car Camera Upgrades and 
Accessories. 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, is fully eligible to receive 
assistance; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, agrees that no matching funds 
are required by the grant program application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, agrees that in the event of loss 
or misuse of funds, the City will return the funds to the Office of the Governor in full; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, hereby designates the Belton 
City Manager as the grantee’s authorized official who is given the power to apply for, 
accept, reject, alter or terminate the grant on behalf of the applicant agency. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, 
hereby authorizes the submission of the grant application to the Office of the Governor, 
Public Safety Office, Criminal Justice Division, as stated herein. 
 
PASSED and APPROVED this 24th day of January, 2023. 
 
       THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #9 
 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Axon for the 
acquisition of body worn cameras and Fleet 3 vehicle cameras for the Police Department 
through the BuyBoard. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Police Department – Daniel Aguirre, Patrol Captain   

 Gene Ellis, Assistant City Manager/Chief of Police 
    Chris Brown, Director of Information Technology 
 
Background 
 
The Watchguard body worn cameras (BWC) currently in service are deteriorating, and the 
company is not able to provide replacements in a practical timeframe. Since Watchguard 
was purchased by Motorola Solutions, customer service has declined, and the timeframe 
has ranged from 3 - 6 months to replace damaged or malfunctioning equipment. The body 
worn cameras and vehicle cameras in service utilize older technology and lack the features 
offered by other companies. On several occasions, our Watchguard body worn cameras 
have malfunctioned in the field, which placed our officers at risk of losing evidence and 
lacking accountability during critical incidents.  
  
Axon is recognized as a leader in the field of body worn cameras and vehicle cameras and 
has not experienced the same equipment replacement delays as our current vendor. Axon 
body worn cameras can pair with Axon vehicle cameras to allow officers to upload video 
from the field, which eliminates the need to return to the police department to review or 
download video onto our server. The video stored on Axon’s “Evidence.com” is accessible 
by the Bell County District and County Attorney Offices, which eliminates the need for 
officers to remain at the police department to manually transfer video onto the County’s 
LEAP server.  
 
On April 27, 2022, the Belton Police Department was awarded a $374,000 grant from the 
U.S. Department of Justice through an appropriation by Congressman John Carter’s Office 
for equipment upgrades. This included $18,910 for body worn cameras, $55,814 for Tasers, 
$110,034 for a use of force simulator, along with some additional equipment. Since the time 
we originally applied for this grant, body worn cameras have risen to our most critical need. 
We have sought grant adjustments to move $151,497 of these grant funds from the Taser 
and simulator categories to provide for a total of $170,407 to be used for body worn 
cameras and the companion Fleet 3 in-car cameras. The total cost of transition to Axon 
body worn cameras and vehicle fleet cameras is $238,580. Axon’s pricing model is paid in 
yearly installments over a five-year period. By applying grant funding towards the total cost, 



City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 2   
 

the remaining cost of $68,173 ($13,635 a year) will be less than our annual maintenance 
cost to Watchguard of $16,074. 
 
BPD will continue to maintain some Watchguard cameras in our existing fleet until we can 
phase them out as vehicles are replaced. Future Fleet 3 in-car cameras will be a component 
of the capital replacement plan as part of the cost of new vehicle upfitting just like we do 
now with the Watchguard cameras. Our plan is to discontinue paying Watchguard 
warranty/software maintenance fees, and to use these funds towards the transition to Axon. 
We will keep a stock of spare Watchguard parts to maintain the Watchguard cameras we 
will still need to use until they are phased out.  
 
In the first year, our department would receive a body worn camera bundle that includes 32 
body worn cameras, 4 multi-bay docks, cloud-based evidence storage for each officer, 32 
user licenses, and warranty plan that includes scheduled equipment replacements and a full 
equipment replacement at the conclusion of the five-year plan. This plan also includes a 
starter package that involves onsite installation and training in transitioning to Axon system.  
 
The phased in approach for the vehicle cameras will include eight Fleet 3 cameras. The 
proposal includes a two-camera kit, onsite hardware installation, and the warranty plan that 
includes the equipment refresh at the end of the contract. Plan advanced features included 
are: the ability to remotely view live video through the vehicle’s camera system; wireless 
upload of video; and GPS monitoring.  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
Amount: $238,580 ($170,407 in grant funds, $68,173 spread over five years from 

budgeted maintenance funds) 
 
Funding Source(s): U.S. DOJ Grant for $170,407 and $13,635 a year from IT budget  
 
Under Texas Procurement Law, products that are quoted through BuyBoard, Smart Buy, 
TIPS, or other cooperatives are not required to be bid, because these organizations have 
already performed the bidding process. 
   
Recommendation 
 
Recommend approval authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Axon 
for the acquisition of body worn cameras and Fleet 3 vehicle cameras for the Police 
Department. 
 
Attachments 
 
Body worn camera quotes 
Vehicle camera quotes  



Page 1 Q-434013-44922.597AS

Q-434013-44922.597AS

Issued: 12/27/2022

Quote Expiration: 12/31/2022

Estimated Contract Start Date: 02/01/2023
Account Number: 327661

Payment Terms: N30
Delivery Method: 

SHIP TO BILL TO SALES REPRESENTATIVE PRIMARY CONTACT
Delivery;Invoice-711 E 2nd Ave Belton Police Dept. - TX Adam Smith Daniel Aguirre
711 E 2nd Ave 711 E 2nd Ave Phone: 602-751-1798 Phone: (254) 933-5840
Belton, TX 76513-3147 Belton, TX 76513-3147 Email: asmith@taser.com Email: daguirre@beltontexas.gov
USA USA Fax: (480) 463-2201 Fax: (254) 933-5835

Email: 

Quote Summary Discount Summary

Program Length 60 Months Average Savings Per Year $6,758.35
TOTAL COST $170,406.45
ESTIMATED TOTAL W/ TAX $170,406.45 TOTAL SAVINGS $33,791.75
 

Payment Summary 

Date Subtotal Tax Total
Jan 2023 $25,249.32 $0.00 $25,249.32
Feb 2023 $44,160.00 $0.00 $44,160.00
Jan 2024 $25,249.28 $0.00 $25,249.28
Jan 2025 $25,249.28 $0.00 $25,249.28
Jan 2026 $25,249.28 $0.00 $25,249.28
Jan 2027 $25,249.29 $0.00 $25,249.29
Total $170,406.45 $0.00 $170,406.45

Axon Enterprise, Inc.
17800 N 85th St.
Scottsdale, Arizona 85255
United States
VAT: 86-0741227
Domestic: (800) 978-2737
International: +1.800.978.2737



Page 2 Q-434013-44922.597AS

Quote Unbundled Price: $204,198.20
Quote List Price: $186,008.60
Quote Subtotal: $170,406.45

Pricing

All deliverables are detailed in Delivery Schedules section lower in proposal
Item Description Qty Term Unbundled  List Price Net Price Subtotal Tax Total
Program
BWCamMBDTAP Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 4 60 $64.01 $29.50 $26.26 $6,302.40 $0.00 $6,302.40
BWCamTAP Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 32 60 $33.16 $28.00 $24.92 $47,846.40 $0.00 $47,846.40
A la Carte Hardware
AB3C AB3 Camera Bundle 32 $699.00 $622.11 $19,907.52 $0.00 $19,907.52
AB3MBD AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 4 $1,538.90 $1,369.62 $5,478.48 $0.00 $5,478.48
A la Carte Software 
73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 500 60 $0.40 $0.36 $10,680.00 $0.00 $10,680.00
73478 REDACTION ASSISTANT USER LICENSE 32 60 $9.00 $9.00 $17,280.00 $0.00 $17,280.00

73447 RESPOND DEVICE TO RESPOND DEVICE PLUS 
UPGRADE LICENSE 32 60 $14.00 $14.00 $26,880.00 $0.00 $26,880.00

BasicLicense Basic License Bundle 30 60 $15.00 $13.35 $24,030.00 $0.00 $24,030.00
ProLicense Pro License Bundle 4 60 $39.00 $34.71 $8,330.40 $0.00 $8,330.40
A la Carte Services 
85144 AXON STARTER 1 $4,125.00 $3,671.25 $3,671.25 $0.00 $3,671.25
Total $170,406.45 $0.00 $170,406.45



Page 3 Q-434013-44922.597AS

Delivery Schedule

Hardware 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Delivery Date
AB3 Camera Bundle 11534 USB-C to USB-A CABLE FOR AB3 OR FLEX 2 36 01/01/2023
AB3 Camera Bundle 71026 MAGNET MOUNT, FLEXIBLE REINFORCED, RAPIDLOCK 36 01/01/2023
AB3 Camera Bundle 73202 AXON BODY 3 - NA10 - US - BLK - RAPIDLOCK 32 01/01/2023
AB3 Camera Bundle 73202 AXON BODY 3 - NA10 - US - BLK - RAPIDLOCK 1 01/01/2023
AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 70033 WALL MOUNT BRACKET, ASSY, EVIDENCE.COM DOCK 4 01/01/2023
AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 71019 NORTH AMER POWER CORD FOR AB3 8-BAY, AB2 1-BAY / 6-BAY DOCK 4 01/01/2023
AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 74210 AXON BODY 3 - 8 BAY DOCK 4 01/01/2023
Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 73689 MULTI-BAY BWC DOCK 1ST REFRESH 4 07/01/2025
Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 73309 AXON CAMERA REFRESH ONE 33 07/01/2025
Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 73688 MULTI-BAY BWC DOCK 2ND REFRESH 4 01/01/2028
Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 73310 AXON CAMERA REFRESH TWO 33 01/01/2028

Software 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Start Date Estimated End Date
Basic License Bundle 73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 30 02/01/2023 01/31/2028
Basic License Bundle 73840 EVIDENCE.COM BASIC ACCESS LICENSE 30 02/01/2023 01/31/2028
Pro License Bundle 73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 12 02/01/2023 01/31/2028
Pro License Bundle 73746 PROFESSIONAL EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 4 02/01/2023 01/31/2028

A la Carte 73447 RESPOND DEVICE TO RESPOND DEVICE PLUS UPGRADE 
LICENSE 32 02/01/2023 01/31/2028

A la Carte 73478 REDACTION ASSISTANT USER LICENSE 32 02/01/2023 01/31/2028
A la Carte 73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 500 02/01/2023 01/31/2028

Services 
Bundle Item Description QTY
A la Carte 85144 AXON STARTER 1

Warranties 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Start Date Estimated End Date
Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 80464 EXT WARRANTY, CAMERA (TAP) 32 02/01/2023 01/31/2028
Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 80464 EXT WARRANTY, CAMERA (TAP) 1 02/01/2023 01/31/2028
Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 80465 EXT WARRANTY, MULTI-BAY DOCK (TAP) 4 01/01/2024 01/31/2028



Page 4 Q-434013-44922.597AS

Payment Details

Jan 2023
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 1 73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 500 $2,136.00 $0.00 $2,136.00
Year 1 85144 AXON STARTER 1 $734.25 $0.00 $734.25
Year 1 AB3C AB3 Camera Bundle 32 $3,981.51 $0.00 $3,981.51
Year 1 AB3MBD AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 4 $1,095.68 $0.00 $1,095.68
Year 1 BasicLicense Basic License Bundle 30 $4,806.00 $0.00 $4,806.00
Year 1 BWCamMBDTAP Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 4 $1,260.52 $0.00 $1,260.52
Year 1 BWCamTAP Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 32 $9,569.28 $0.00 $9,569.28
Year 1 ProLicense Pro License Bundle 4 $1,666.08 $0.00 $1,666.08
Total $25,249.32 $0.00 $25,249.32

Feb 2023
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Invoice Upon Fulfillment 73447 RESPOND DEVICE TO RESPOND DEVICE PLUS UPGRADE LICENSE 32 $26,880.00 $0.00 $26,880.00
Invoice Upon Fulfillment 73478 REDACTION ASSISTANT USER LICENSE 32 $17,280.00 $0.00 $17,280.00
Total $44,160.00 $0.00 $44,160.00

Jan 2024
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 2 73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 500 $2,136.00 $0.00 $2,136.00
Year 2 85144 AXON STARTER 1 $734.25 $0.00 $734.25
Year 2 AB3C AB3 Camera Bundle 32 $3,981.50 $0.00 $3,981.50
Year 2 AB3MBD AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 4 $1,095.70 $0.00 $1,095.70
Year 2 BasicLicense Basic License Bundle 30 $4,806.00 $0.00 $4,806.00
Year 2 BWCamMBDTAP Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 4 $1,260.47 $0.00 $1,260.47
Year 2 BWCamTAP Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 32 $9,569.28 $0.00 $9,569.28
Year 2 ProLicense Pro License Bundle 4 $1,666.08 $0.00 $1,666.08
Total $25,249.28 $0.00 $25,249.28

Jan 2025
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 3 73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 500 $2,136.00 $0.00 $2,136.00
Year 3 85144 AXON STARTER 1 $734.25 $0.00 $734.25
Year 3 AB3C AB3 Camera Bundle 32 $3,981.50 $0.00 $3,981.50
Year 3 AB3MBD AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 4 $1,095.70 $0.00 $1,095.70
Year 3 BasicLicense Basic License Bundle 30 $4,806.00 $0.00 $4,806.00
Year 3 BWCamMBDTAP Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 4 $1,260.47 $0.00 $1,260.47
Year 3 BWCamTAP Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 32 $9,569.28 $0.00 $9,569.28
Year 3 ProLicense Pro License Bundle 4 $1,666.08 $0.00 $1,666.08
Total $25,249.28 $0.00 $25,249.28



Page 5 Q-434013-44922.597AS

Jan 2026
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 4 73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 500 $2,136.00 $0.00 $2,136.00
Year 4 85144 AXON STARTER 1 $734.25 $0.00 $734.25
Year 4 AB3C AB3 Camera Bundle 32 $3,981.50 $0.00 $3,981.50
Year 4 AB3MBD AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 4 $1,095.70 $0.00 $1,095.70
Year 4 BasicLicense Basic License Bundle 30 $4,806.00 $0.00 $4,806.00
Year 4 BWCamMBDTAP Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 4 $1,260.47 $0.00 $1,260.47
Year 4 BWCamTAP Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 32 $9,569.28 $0.00 $9,569.28
Year 4 ProLicense Pro License Bundle 4 $1,666.08 $0.00 $1,666.08
Total $25,249.28 $0.00 $25,249.28

Jan 2027
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 5 73683 10 GB EVIDENCE.COM A-LA-CART STORAGE- 500 $2,136.00 $0.00 $2,136.00
Year 5 85144 AXON STARTER 1 $734.25 $0.00 $734.25
Year 5 AB3C AB3 Camera Bundle 32 $3,981.51 $0.00 $3,981.51
Year 5 AB3MBD AB3 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 4 $1,095.70 $0.00 $1,095.70
Year 5 BasicLicense Basic License Bundle 30 $4,806.00 $0.00 $4,806.00
Year 5 BWCamMBDTAP Body Worn Camera Multi-Bay Dock TAP Bundle 4 $1,260.47 $0.00 $1,260.47
Year 5 BWCamTAP Body Worn Camera TAP Bundle 32 $9,569.28 $0.00 $9,569.28
Year 5 ProLicense Pro License Bundle 4 $1,666.08 $0.00 $1,666.08
Total $25,249.29 $0.00 $25,249.29

 



Page 6 Q-434013-44922.597AS

Tax is estimated based on rates applicable at date of quote and subject to change at time of invoicing. If a tax exemption certificate should be applied, please submit 
prior to invoicing. 

Contract BuyBoard Contract 648-21 is incorporated by reference into the terms and conditions of this Agreement. In the event of conflict the terms of Axon's Master Services and 
Purchasing Agreement shall govern. 

\s1\ \d1\
 Signature Date Signed

12/27/2022

 



Page 1 Q-433851-44901.850AS

Q-433851-44901.850AS

Issued: 12/06/2022

Quote Expiration: 12/15/2022

Estimated Contract Start Date: 01/01/2023
Account Number: 327661

Payment Terms: N30
Delivery Method: 

SHIP TO BILL TO SALES REPRESENTATIVE PRIMARY CONTACT
Delivery;Invoice-711 E 2nd Ave Belton Police Dept. - TX Adam Smith Daniel Aguirre
711 E 2nd Ave 711 E 2nd Ave Phone: 602-751-1798 Phone: (254) 933-5840
Belton, TX 76513-3147 Belton, TX 76513-3147 Email: asmith@taser.com Email: daguirre@beltontexas.gov
USA USA Fax: (480) 463-2201 Fax: (254) 933-5835

Email: 

Quote Summary Discount Summary

Program Length 60 Months Average Savings Per Year $4,369.92
TOTAL COST $68,174.40
ESTIMATED TOTAL W/ TAX $68,174.40 TOTAL SAVINGS $21,849.60
 

Payment Summary 

Date Subtotal Tax Total
Dec 2022 $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88
Dec 2023 $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88
Dec 2024 $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88
Dec 2025 $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88
Dec 2026 $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88
Total $68,174.40 $0.00 $68,174.40

Axon Enterprise, Inc.
17800 N 85th St.
Scottsdale, Arizona 85255
United States
VAT: 86-0741227
Domestic: (800) 978-2737
International: +1.800.978.2737



Page 2 Q-433851-44901.850AS

Quote Unbundled Price: $90,024.00
Quote List Price: $88,320.00
Quote Subtotal: $68,174.40

Pricing

All deliverables are detailed in Delivery Schedules section lower in proposal
Item Description Qty Term Unbundled  List Price Net Price Subtotal Tax Total
Program
Fleet3B+TAP Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 8 60 $172.55 $169.00 $127.03 $60,974.40 $0.00 $60,974.40
A la Carte Software 
80402 RESPOND DEVICE LICENSE - FLEET 3 8 60 $15.00 $15.00 $7,200.00 $0.00 $7,200.00
Total $68,174.40 $0.00 $68,174.40



Page 3 Q-433851-44901.850AS

Delivery Schedule

Hardware 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Delivery Date
Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 70112 AXON SIGNAL UNIT 8 12/01/2022
Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 72036 FLEET 3 STANDARD 2 CAMERA KIT 8 12/01/2022
Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 72040 FLEET REFRESH, 2 CAMERA KIT 8 12/01/2028

Software 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Start Date Estimated End Date
Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 80400 FLEET, VEHICLE LICENSE 8 01/01/2023 12/31/2027
Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 80410 FLEET, UNLIMITED STORAGE, 1 CAMERA 16 01/01/2023 12/31/2027
A la Carte 80402 RESPOND DEVICE LICENSE - FLEET 3 8 01/01/2023 12/31/2027

Services 
Bundle Item Description QTY
Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 73391 FLEET 3 NEW INSTALLATION (PER VEHICLE) 8

Warranties 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Start Date Estimated End Date
Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 80379 EXT WARRANTY, AXON SIGNAL UNIT 8 12/01/2023 12/31/2027
Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 80495 EXT WARRANTY, FLEET 3, 2 CAMERA KIT 8 12/01/2023 12/31/2027



Page 4 Q-433851-44901.850AS

Payment Details

Dec 2022
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 1 80402 RESPOND DEVICE LICENSE - FLEET 3 8 $1,440.00 $0.00 $1,440.00
Year 1 Fleet3B+TAP Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 8 $12,194.88 $0.00 $12,194.88
Total $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88

Dec 2023
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 2 80402 RESPOND DEVICE LICENSE - FLEET 3 8 $1,440.00 $0.00 $1,440.00
Year 2 Fleet3B+TAP Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 8 $12,194.88 $0.00 $12,194.88
Total $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88

Dec 2024
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 3 80402 RESPOND DEVICE LICENSE - FLEET 3 8 $1,440.00 $0.00 $1,440.00
Year 3 Fleet3B+TAP Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 8 $12,194.88 $0.00 $12,194.88
Total $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88

Dec 2025
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 4 80402 RESPOND DEVICE LICENSE - FLEET 3 8 $1,440.00 $0.00 $1,440.00
Year 4 Fleet3B+TAP Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 8 $12,194.88 $0.00 $12,194.88
Total $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88

Dec 2026
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 5 80402 RESPOND DEVICE LICENSE - FLEET 3 8 $1,440.00 $0.00 $1,440.00
Year 5 Fleet3B+TAP Fleet 3 Basic + TAP 8 $12,194.88 $0.00 $12,194.88
Total $13,634.88 $0.00 $13,634.88

 



Page 5 Q-433851-44901.850AS

Tax is estimated based on rates applicable at date of quote and subject to change at time of invoicing. If a tax exemption certificate should be applied, please submit 
prior to invoicing. 

Contract BuyBoard Contract 648-21 is incorporated by reference into the terms and conditions of this Agreement. In the event of conflict the terms of Axon's Master Services and 
Purchasing Agreement shall govern. 

\s1\ \d1\
 Signature Date Signed

12/6/2022

 



1

FLEET STATEMENT OF WORK BETWEEN AXON ENTERPRISE AND AGENCY

Introduction

This Statement of Work (“SOW”) has been made and entered into by and between Axon Enterprise, Inc. (“AXON”), and Belton Police Dept. - TX the (“AGENCY”) 
for the purchase of the Axon Fleet in-car video solution (“FLEET”) and its supporting information, services and training.  (AXON Technical Project Manager/The 
AXON installer)

Purpose and Intent 

AGENCY states, and AXON understands and agrees, that Agency’s purpose and intent for entering into this SOW is for the AGENCY to obtain from AXON 
deliverables, which used solely in conjunction with AGENCY’s existing systems and equipment, which AGENCY specifically agrees to purchase or provide 
pursuant to the terms of this SOW.

This SOW contains the entire agreement between the parties.  There are no promises, agreements, conditions, inducements, warranties or understandings, 
written or oral, expressed or implied, between the parties, other than as set forth or referenced in the SOW. 

Acceptance 

Upon completion of the services outlined in this SOW, AGENCY will be provided a professional services acceptance form (“Acceptance Form”). AGENCY will sign 
the Acceptance Form acknowledging that services have been completed in substantial conformance with this SOW and the Agreement. If AGENCY reasonably 
believes AXON did not complete the professional services in conformance with this SOW, AGENCY must notify AXON in writing of the specific reasons within 
seven (7) calendar days from delivery of the Acceptance Form. AXON will remedy the issues to conform with this SOW and re-present the Acceptance Form for 
signature. If AXON does not receive the signed Acceptance Form or written notification of the reasons for rejection within 7 calendar days of the delivery of the 
Acceptance Form, AGENCY will be deemed to have accepted the services in accordance to this SOW. 

Force Majeure



2

Neither party hereto shall be liable for delays or failure to perform with respect to this SOW due to causes beyond the party’s reasonable control and not avoidable 
by diligence.   

Schedule Change

Each party shall notify the other as soon as possible regarding any changes to agreed upon dates and times of Axon Fleet in-car Solution installation to be 
performed pursuant of this Statement of Work. 

Axon Fleet Deliverables

Typically, within (30) days of receiving this fully executed SOW, an AXON Technical Project Manager will deliver to AGENCY’s primary point of contact via 
electronic media, controlled documentation, guides, instructions and videos followed by available dates for the initial project review and customer readiness 
validation. Unless otherwise agreed upon by AXON, AGENCY may print and reproduce said documents for use by its employees only. 

Security Clearance and Access

Upon AGENCY’s request, AXON will provide the AGENCY a list of AXON employees, agents, installers or representatives which require access to the AGENCY’s 
facilities in order to perform Work pursuant of this Statement of Work.  AXON will ensure that each employee, agent or representative has been informed or and 
consented to a criminal background investigation by AGENCY for the purposes of being allowed access to AGENCY‘s facilities.  AGENCY is responsible for 
providing AXON with all required instructions and documentation accompanying the security background check’s requirements.  

Training 

AXON will provide training applicable to Axon Evidence, Cradlepoint NetCloud Manager and Axon Fleet  application in a train-the-trainer style method unless 
otherwise agreed upon between the AGENCY and AXON.

Local Computer



3

AGNECY is responsible for providing a mobile data computer (MDC) with the same software, hardware, and configuration that AGENCY personnel will use with 
the AXON system being installed. AGENCY is responsible for making certain that any and all security settings (port openings, firewall settings, antivirus software, 
virtual private network, routing, etc.) are made prior to the installation, configuration and testing of the aforementioned deliverables.  

Network 

AGENCY is responsible for making certain that any and all network(s) route traffic to appropriate endpoints and AXON is not liable for network breach, data 
interception, or loss of data due to misconfigured firewall settings or virus infection, except to the extent that such virus or infection is caused, in whole or in part, 
by defects in the deliverables.  

Cradlepoint Router

When applicable, AGENCY must provide AXON Installers with temporary administrative access to Cradlepoint’s NetCloud Manager to the extent necessary to 
perform Work pursuant of this Statement of Work.  

Evidence.com

AGENCY must provide AXON Installers with temporary administrative access to Axon Evidence.com to the extent necessary to perform Work pursuant of this 
SOW.

Wireless Upload System

If purchased by the AGENCY, on such dates and times mutually agreed upon by the parties, AXON will install and configure into AGENCY’s existing network a 
wireless network infrastructure as identified in the AGENCY’s binding quote based on conditions of the sale.  

VEHICLE INSTALLATION

Preparedness

https://accounts.cradlepointecm.com/
http://evidence.com/


4

On such dates and times mutually agreed upon by the parties, the AGENCY will deliver all vehicles to an AXON Installer less weapons and items of evidence.  
Vehicle(s) will be deemed ‘out of service’ to the extent necessary to perform Work pursuant of this SOW.  

Existing Mobile Video Camera System Removal

On such dates and times mutually agreed upon by the parties, the AGENCY will deliver all vehicles to an AXON Installer which will remove from said vehicles all 
components of the existing mobile video camera system unless otherwise agreed upon by the AGENCY.

Major components will be salvaged by the AXON Installer for auction by the AGENCY.  Wires and cables are not considered expendable and will not be 
salvaged.  Salvaged components will be placed in a designated area by the AGENCY within close proximity of the vehicle in an accessible work space. 

Prior to removing the existing mobile video camera systems, it is both the responsibility of the AGENCY and the AXON Installer to test the vehicle’s systems’ 
operation to identify and operate, documenting any existing component or system failures and in detail, identify which components of the existing mobile video 
camera system will be removed by the AXON Installer.    

In-Car Hardware/Software Delivery and Installation 

On such dates and times mutually agreed upon by the parties, the AGENCY will deliver all vehicles to an AXON Installer, who will install and configure in each 
vehicle in accordance with the specifications detailed in the system’s installation manual and its relevant addendum(s).  Applicable in-car hardware will be installed 
and configured as defined and validated by the AGENCY during the pre-deployment discovery process. 

If a specified vehicle is unavailable on the date and time agreed upon by the parties, AGENCY will provide a similar vehicle for the installation process. Delays due 
to a vehicle, or substitute vehicle, not being available at agreed upon dates and times may results in additional fees to the AGENCY.  If the AXON Installer 
determines that a vehicle is not properly prepared for installation (“Not Fleet Ready”), such as a battery not being properly charged or properly up-fit for in-service, 
field operations, the issue shall be reported immediately to the AGENCY for resolution and a date and time for the future installation shall be agreed upon by the 
parties.  



5

Upon completion of installation and configuration, AXON will systematically test all installed and configured in-car hardware and software to ensure that ALL 
functions of the hardware and software are fully operational and that any deficiencies are corrected unless otherwise agreed upon by the AGENCY, installation, 
configuration, test and the correct of any deficiencies will be completed in each vehicle accepted for installation.

Prior to installing the Axon Fleet camera systems, it is both the responsibility of the AGENCY and the AXON Installer to test the vehicle’s existing systems’ 
operation to identify, document any existing component or vehicle systems’ failures. Prior to any vehicle up-fitting the AXON Installer will introduce the system’s 
components, basic functions, integrations and systems overview along with reference to AXON approved, AGENCY manuals, guides, portals and videos.  It is 
both the responsibility of the AGENCY and the AXON Installer to agree on placement of each components, the antenna(s), integration recording trigger sources 
and customer preferred power, ground and ignition sources prior to permanent or temporary installation of an Axon Fleet camera solution in each vehicle type.  
Agreed placement will be documented by the AXON Installer. 

AXON welcomes up to 5 persons per system operation training session per day, and unless otherwise agreed upon by the AGENCY, the first vehicle will be used 
for an installation training demonstration.  The second vehicle will be used for an assisted installation training demonstration.  The installation training session is 
customary to any AXON Fleet installation service regardless of who performs the continued Axon Fleet system installations.  



6

The customary training session does not ‘certify’ a non-AXON Installer, customer-employed Installer or customer 3rd party Installer, since the AXON Fleet 
products does not offer an Installer certification program.  Any work performed by non-AXON Installer, customer-employed Installer or customer 3rd party Installer 
is not warrantied by AXON, and AXON is not liable for any damage to the vehicle and its existing systems and AXON Fleet hardware. 



City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
Agenda Item #10 
 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services agreement with 
Kasberg, Patrick & Associates for design and bidding phase services for the E. 13th Avenue 
Shared Use Path Project CSJ# 0909-36-169. 
     
Originating Department 
 
Public Works – Matt Bates, Director of Public Works 
 
Summary Information 
 
In November 2022, the City of Belton received an executed Advanced Funding Agreement 
from TxDOT for the E. 13th Avenue Shared Use Path Project. This project was an 80/20 
match grant from the Transportation Alternatives Program. The entire project is estimated to 
cost $693,622.62, with TxDOT (Federal participation) contributing $431,387.20, TxDOT 
(State participation) contributing $25,721.46 and the City of Belton being responsible for the 
remaining $236,513.95. 
 
The project consists of reconstructing the existing 4’ sidewalk along E. 13th Avenue 
(southside) and installing a 6’ Bike Lane on this side also. This design was approved by City 
Council on November 24, 2020. Design Image below: 

 
 
Kasberg, Patrick & Associates lump sum fees for the Design Tasks based on the Scope of 
Services as detailed in Exhibit A for each project are as follows: 
A. Phase 1 – Preliminary Design (Surveying & Environmental Clearances): $ 33,400 
B. Phase 2 – Final Design: $ 51,100 
C. Phase 3 – Bid Phase Services: $ 8,000 
TOTAL: $ 92,500 



City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 2 
 

The Final Design for this project is anticipated to have a 120-calendar day duration. Final 
clearance for bidding this project is contingent upon submittal and approval of any required 
permits from State and Federal Agencies. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
Amount: $92,500.00 
 
Budgeted:   Yes    No  TIRZ Fund 
 
Funds will be used from the Capital Projects Fund. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services agreement 
with Kasberg, Patrick & Associates for design and bidding phase services for the E. 13th 
Avenue Shared Use Path Project CSJ# 0909-36-169 
 
Attachments 
KPA Proposal 
E. 13th Avenue Project – Aerial Map 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
August 30, 2022 
 
Mr. Matthew Bates 
Director of Public Works 
City of Belton 
P.O. Box 120 
Belton, Texas 76513 
 
RE: City of Belton 

Transportation Alternatives Program 
E. 13th Avenue Sidewalks 
Professional Services Proposal 
Belton, Texas 

 
Mr. Bates: 
 
This is a letter proposal that addresses your request for Kasberg, Patrick & Associates, LP (KPA) to 
provide professional engineering and surveying services to the City of Belton for the E. 13 th Avenue 
Sidewalks Project within the City of Belton.  Our Preliminary Opinion of Probable Construction 
Costs for this project is $700,000.00.  Attached is Exhibit A which outlines the proposed Scope of 
Services and Exhibit B which is a fee rate sheet that shows hourly and material costs that will apply 
for work authorized by the City of Belton outside the original Scope of Services.  Otherwise, this is 
a lump sum proposal. KPA will prepare monthly invoices and forward those to you for work 
completed through the 25th day of each month including descriptions of what was accomplished each 
month. 
 
The lump sum fees for the Design Tasks based on the Scope of Services as detailed in Exhibit A for 
each project are as follows: 
 

A. Phase 1 – Preliminary Design (Surveying & Environmental Clearances: $    33,400 
B. Phase 2 – Final Design:   $    51,100 
C. Phase 3 – Bid Phase Services:   $      8,000 

          TOTAL:         $    92,500 
 
This scope assumes that all design and construction will occur within existing right-of-way and 
that no new right-of-way or easements will be required. 
 
  

KASBERG, PATRICK & ASSOCIATES, LP 
CONSULTING ENGINEERS 
Texas Firm F-510 
 
 

 Temple RICK N. KASBERG, P.E. Georgetown 
19 North Main Street R. DAVID PATRICK, P.E., CFM 800 South Austin Avenue 
Temple, Texas 76501 THOMAS D. VALLE, P.E. Georgetown, Texas 78626 
(254) 773-3731 GINGER R. TOLBERT, P.E. (512) 819-9478 
  ALVIN R. “TRAE” SUTTON, III, P.E., CFM 
  JOHN A. SIMCIK, P.E., CFM 
 



Mr. Matthew Bates 
August 30, 2022 
Page Two 

The Final Design for this project is anticipated to have a 120 calendar day duration.  Final clearance 
for bidding this project is contingent upon submittal and approval of any required permits from State 
and Federal Agencies. 

If you have questions or comments regarding this proposal, please let us know.  We will answer all 
inquiries in a timely manner. 

Please execute the acceptance of this proposal in the spaces provided and return one copy to our 
office. 

Sincerely, 

John A. Simcik, P.E., C.F.M. 
Principal 

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED THIS DAY OF , 2023. 

City of Belton: ATTEST: 

Sam A Listi Matthew Bates 
City Manager Director of Public Works 

Amy M. Casey
City Clerk



 
EXHIBIT A 

CITY OF BELTON 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES   

PROPOSED SCOPE OF WORK 

TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES PROGRAM 

13TH AVENUE SIDEWALKS PROJECT 

BELTON, TEXAS 
 
 
 
 
Phase 1. Preliminary Design 
 

A. Meet with appropriate Public Works Department Staff to develop final project 
goals, objectives and parameters before beginning work.   

B. Initiate project site design surveys (topographic only) and plot the results on 
project strip maps for review by City Staff and for beginning the design process.   

C. Contact the franchise utility providers for each project location and ask each 
entity: 

 To identify respective improvements within project boundaries and locate those 
improvements. 

 Ask each entity regarding any pending improvement upgrades within the 
project boundaries. 

 Provide each entity with preliminary design information and location of 
pending improvements by the City of Belton in an attempt to reveal any 
potential conflicts. 

D. Conduct onsite investigations for identification of cultural resources, waters of the 
U.S., and threatened and endangered species habitat assessment.  Prepare a report 
with recommendations and submit documentation and permitting requests to the 
appropriate governing agencies for consideration approval prior to construction.  
Please see Appendix A for a complete Scope for Natural and Cultural Resources 
Consulting Services.  

E. Meet with the TxDOT AREA ENGINEER to make that office aware of the 
project under design and obtain preliminary approval of the proposed traffic 
control plan during construction. 

F. The City of Belton will provide copies of any existing mapping or record drawings 
for infrastructure in City of Belton right-of-way or easements. 

G. KPA will meet with the Public Works Staff and TxDOT District 9 Staff at 30%, 
60% and 95% stages of construction plan development to review the progress and 
project goals. 



 
 

Phase 2. Final Design 

A. Develop 30% drawings, data and strip maps for review by the Public Works Staff 
and TxDOT District 9 Staff that include preliminary OPCCs.  This 30% stage will 
include only proposed horizontal alignment for each improvement.  Also included 
in the 30% meeting will be accompanied by one (1) site visit to the project 
location.  Item A.1. will also be included in the 30% stage. 

B. KPA will prepare requests and supporting documentation for up to three (3) 
proposed variances identified in the 30% design stage due to existing site 
conditions.  KPA will review the variance request with Public Works Staff prior to 
submitting to and coordinating with TxDOT District 9 Staff for consideration and 
approval.       

C. Achieve 60% design milestone that will include the full, basic set of plan-profile 
sheets with construction details and draft specifications as required.  Items C.1.-
C.3. will also be included in the 60% design set.  

D. Participate in a design review meeting with Public Works Staff and TxDOT 
District 9 Staff to discuss design specifics, updated OPCCs, project special 
considerations and expected duration of construction.  This 60% design review 
will be accompanied by one (1) site visit to the project location.  

E. Achieve 95% design milestone that will include near final drawings, 
specifications, including front end contract documents, updated OPCCs and 
expected duration of construction.  One (1) site visit to the project location will be 
included in this 95% design meeting.  

F. Submit construction drawings for registration and review by a Registered 
Accessibility Specialist (RAS).  Fees for Texas Department of Licensing and 
Regulation (TDLR) registration and review of the project to be paid for by KPA.   

G. Achieve 100% final design.  Provide final plans and specs ready for bidding with 
the plans signed and sealed.  Provide five (5) half sized copies of the plans and 
one (1) PDF of the project set.  Project forms to be prepared and submitted to 
TxDOT District 9 Staff for approval.  

H. KPA will produce a complete set of construction drawings and Contract 
Documents for the project complete with a Bid Form (consisting of Base Bid and 
designated Add Alternate components), Bid Schedule and Notice to Bidders.  

 

Phase 3. Bid Phase Services  

A. Prepare the Notice to Bidders and provide the Notice to the City of Belton City 
Engineer for coordination with the City Clerk and the local newspapers for the 
bidding process.  KPA to also coordinate advertisement of the project utilizing 
CivCast. 

B. Design Engineer will release Construction Drawings and Contract Documents to 
potential bidders from the Design Engineer’s office and CivCast and keep a 
tabulation of documents released using normal bidding phase procedures. 



 
C. Design Engineer to answer questions and inquiries about the project during the 

bidding process. 

D. Design Engineer will submit any required addenda to TxDOT District 9 Staff and 
City of Belton Staff for approval and then issue addenda during the bidding 
process. 

E. Design Engineer will coordinate and conduct one (1) pre-bid conference for the 
project. 

F. Design Engineer will provide Receipt of Bid Summary Sheet for use on the day 
and time of the bid opening. 

G. Design Engineer will evaluate the bids, prepare a bid tabulation of all bids 
received, evaluate the bidders and provide a bid award recommendation letter to 
the City Engineer.  Additionally, Design Engineer will provide a bid analysis to 
TxDOT District 9 Staff as well as forms required for TxDOT concurrence. 

H. Design Engineer will incorporate any addenda in the construction drawings before 
the project drawings are released for construction. 

I. Design Engineer will provide 5 half sized sets of the construction drawings and 
one 22” by 34” set of the construction drawings to the City Engineer for use 
during the construction process. 

J. Design Engineer will provide four (4) sets of Contract Documents to the City 
Engineer for execution. 

 
 
SPECIAL NOTES: 
 
 This Scope of Services does not include the following: 

1. Preparation of metes and bounds and surveyor’s sketches for additional ROW and temporary 
construction easement parcels and staking of boundaries.  These services may be provided at 
a fee of $1,700 per parcel. 

2. Right-of-Entry (ROE) coordination and acquisition.  

3. Right-of-Way (ROW)/Easement coordination and acquisition; 

4. Construction Surveying for Franchised Utility Companies for relocation or adjustments to 
their infrastructure or for new installations of their infrastructure; 

5. Construction testing; 

6. On-site construction inspection. 

7. Construction Administration services. 

 This Scope of Services does not include meeting weekly at Belton City Hall to provide updates or 
reports on the design process for this project. 



 
EXHIBIT B 

 
CHARGES FOR ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES PROGRAM 

13TH AVENUE SIDEWALK PROJECT  

CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

POSITION   SALARY COST/RATES 
    
Principal    $ 160.00/hour 
Project Manager/Professional Engineer    $ 150.00/hour 
Engineer-in-Training    $ 110.00/hour 
CAD Technician    $ 95.00/hour 
On-Site Construction Representation    $ 80.00/hour 
Clerical    $ 45.00/hour 
Mileage     0.55/mile 
Direct Expenses     Cost plus 10% 
Professional Surveyor     Cost plus 10% 
Surveyor CAD Technician     Cost plus 10% 
Survey Crew     Cost plus 10% 

 



August 29, 2022

John Simcik, PE, CFM
KPA Engineers
19 North Main Street
Temple, TX  76501
P (254) 773-3731
E JSimcik@kpaengineers.com

RE: Proposal for Environmental Planning Consulting Services
13th Avenue Pedestrian Improvements (TxDOT CE)
Belton, Bell County, Texas
CSJ No. -not known at this time-
Terracon Proposal No. P96227733

Dear Mr. Simcik:

Terracon Consultants, Inc. (Terracon) appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal to KPA 
Engineers (Client) to perform the following Environmental Planning Consulting Services as it 
relates to the above-referenced site/project.  

Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) Categorical Exclusion (CE) under National 
Environmental Policy Act (NEPA)

A. PROJECT INFORMATION

Terracon understands that the Client is working with the City of Belton on the design for
pedestrian improvements along E. 13th Avenue between Main Street (FM 317) and Waco Road (FM 
817) in Belton, Bell County, Texas. The proposed project area is depicted on the Proposed Project 
Location Map (Figure 1). Based on information provided by the Client, the proposed pedestrian 
improvements will include replacement of existing sidewalk, as needed along the south side of E. 
13th Avenue from Main Street to Park Avenue to meet requirements of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA). New 4-ft wide sidewalks will be constructed within the existing 
right-of-way (ROW) along the north side of E. 13th Avenue, east of Park Place Manor to Park 
Avenue, and also along the south side of E. 13th Avenue from the drainage channel to Waco Road. 
Additional work will include the striping a 6-ft bike lane with rumble striping. Curbs along the 
bicycle lane will be painted for no on-street parking. 

At this time, it is unknown whether work will remain within existing ROW and/or include 
temporary or permanent easements. It is not known whether the project will involve federal 
funds. The Client and Terracon, in coordination with the TxDOT Waco District, assume the project 
would be classified as a Categorical Exclusion (CE) for the environmental review process at 
TxDOT.

APPENDIX A





Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
3

TxDOT involvement requires compliance with TxDOT guidelines and compliance toolkits.  
According to TxDOT, categorically excluded projects cannot cause any significant environmental 
impacts to any natural, cultural, recreational, historic, or other resources (43 TAC 2.10(b)(1)(B)).  

Terracon assumes that the Client will secure right-of-entry to the project area to perform the 
environmental studies detailed below. If this information is not accurate, please inform the 
undersigned as soon as possible so that a revised scope, schedule, and/or budget may be 
determined, as needed. 

B. SCOPE OF SERVICES

The proposed services consist of the following tasks:

Task 1: TxDOT Categorical Exclusion (CE) Assessments, Technical Studies, 
and Forms 

This task includes preparing TxDOT-required Work Plan Development tools, creating maps, 
performing technical studies, consulting regulatory databases, coordinating with TxDOT personnel, 
and conducting site visits for assessments and project area photographs. Six subtasks are 
presented below: 

Subtask 1.1: Work Plan Development (WPD) Tool 

The Work Plan Development Tool (WPD) is used by the Project Sponsor (City of Belton) and 
TxDOT to prepare a scope of effort to complete the environmental studies associated with the CE 
action. The WPD helps determine the kinds of environmental studies necessary for environmental 
approval. Databases will be searched as part of this task and information from the Client will be 
requested. The WPD I Project Definition, WPD II Tool, and WPD III Project Work Plan Screens 

nvironmental Compliance Oversight System (ECOS) 
application by the TxDOT Waco District Environmental personnel, with supporting documentation 
prepared by Terracon professional staff. The scope of work presented in the following proposal is 
based on Terraco and preliminary discussions 
with the TxDOT Waco District Environmental personnel, but the WPD findings may indicate studies 
not included in this proposal. See Task-Specific Limitations near the end of the proposal.

Subtask 1.2: Project Coordination Request (PCR) for Historic Resources 

The proposed scope of work for this subtask follows TxDOT Historical Studies Review Procedures 
to review and document historic properties in fulfillment of Section 106 compliance efforts. The 
first step in this process is to complete a Project Coordination Request (PCR). The following tasks 
are proposed for the PCR for non-archeological standing structures within the project area for the 
proposed pedestrian improvements.

A records search for previously identified historic properties within a quarter-mile project study 
area will be conducted. Previously identified properties to include resources previously listed as 



Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
4

National Historic Landmarks (NHLs), National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) individual 
properties and/or historic districts, Recorded Texas Historic Landmarks (RTHLs), State Antiquities 
Landmarks (SALs), local landmarks and Historic Preservation Overlay Districts, or historic 
resources determined NRHP-eligible through State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) review and 
concurrence. The project historian will also identify Official Texas Historic Markers (OTHMs) within 
the project area. 

The records search will include review of the following online resources:

Texas Historical (THC) online database, the Texas Sites Atlas

of Texas Aggregator

National Bridge Inventory database

NRHP online mapping tool

Local Planning and Zoning GIS mapping tool, if available

Limited field survey of the project area, as presented in the project schematic drawing(s) [to be 
provided by Client], will be undertaken. The field survey will be conducted within the project area 
from the public ROW. Photographs will include representative images from multiple views of the 
following elements, as applicable:

Buildings and structures within the proposed Area of Potential Effects (APE) and those 
adjacent

Road features (culverts, bridges, landscaping, ditches, walls, rest areas)

Areas of proposed construction

Areas where new ROW acquisition is proposed, if applicable

Terracon will prepare a Project Coordination Request (PCR) form with supporting documentation. 
Maps, tables, and photographs will illustrate the following components to facilitate TxDOT Waco
District and Environmental Affairs Division (ENV) Historical Studies Branch (HIST) review of 
historic-age resources within the APE:

Maps illustrating the existing and proposed ROW boundaries, the proposed APE, previously 
identified historic properties, and parcel boundaries for buildings, structures, and sites 
within the APE

Tables recording the results of the records search for previously identified historic 
properties

Maps and tables identifying historic-age bridges in the project area

Representative photographs of elements within the project area

If applicable, in consultation with TxDOT ENV-HIST, the project historian will draft County 
Historical Commission (CHC) consultation letters and coordinate the results of consultation. 
Copies of correspondence letters will be included in the PCR, if necessary. This scope of work 
complies with TxDOT ENV-HIST PCR reporting standards (July 2021) to assist in the determination 
of the scope of historic resources study appropriate for a project.

The cultural resources services described above assume approximately one day of fieldwork for 
one Terracon cultural resources staff. Based on the findings of TxDOT ENV-HIST, additional work 
may be required to clear the project for historic properties. Should weather or other unforeseen 



Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
5

circumstances affect the schedule, or if TxDOT ENV-HIST require additional studies, Terracon will 
prepare a Supplemental to the Agreement for Services. This scope of services covers one round of 
comments from agencies (THC/TxDOT). Further comment resolution may incur additional fees. 

Subtask 1.3:  Archeological Background Study 

Cultural Resources comprise both historic structures and archaeological materials; therefore, 
cultural resources can vary a great deal and may include such diverse items as buried artifacts of 
previous cultures and historic buildings or objects. In Texas, cultural resources are protected 
under the federal National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) of 1966, as amended, and the state 
Antiquities Code of Texas (ACT). The THC is responsible for enforcing cultural resource compliance 

require THC coordination if the project affects a cumulative area larger than five 
acres or disturbs a cumulative area of more than 5,000 cubic yards, whichever measure is 
triggered first, or if the project is inside a designated historic district or recorded archeological 
site. A "political subdivision" is defined as a local governmental entity created and operating under 
the laws of this state, including a city, county, school district, or special district created under 
Article III, Section 52(b)(1) or (2), or Article XVI, Section 59, of the Texas Constitution. Projects 
undertaken by State agencies or public universities are not limited by size and require THC 
coordination prior to any ground disturbances. The professional archeologist conducting a survey
is required to receive a permit before any archeological investigations may proceed.  Although not 
known at this time, if federal monies used for the transportation project, compliance with Section 
106 of the NHPA will be required. If this information is not accurate, please inform the 
undersigned as soon as possible so that a revised scope, schedule, and/or budget may be 
determined, as needed. 

Agency Coordination with TxDOT and Texas Historical Commission 

Template (September 2020 version), a Terracon 
cultural resources specialist will perform a desktop analysis of the subject area with emphasis on 
the Archeological (Restricted) Sites Atlas (database) maintained by the THC and the Texas 
Archeological Research Laboratory (TARL). The effort will identify previously recorded 
archeological and historical resources, as well as previous cultural resource investigations, within 
the subject area. Mapped soil types within the subject area will be examined. Soil types can be an 
indicator of probability of archaeological resources. Additionally, available historic maps will be 
reviewed for potential historic structures or objects and see the change over time on a parcel.

This task does not include a formal archaeological survey, which would require a permit. Based on 
the results of the desktop analysis, the Archeological Background Study will be produced to 

whether a survey is recommended. The deliverable will be the background study that will be 
presented to the C
background study, should fieldwork be required, a Supplemental to the Agreement for Services 
will be prepared to perform those archeological surveys. While no archeological fieldwork is 
anticipated for this project, TxDOT or THC may require it should more than 100 cubic yards of 
ground disturbance below original grade be proposed as part of the project.   

The cultural resource services described above assume no fieldwork will be performed. This scope 
of work does not include construction monitoring, archeological survey, eligibility testing, or data 
recovery levels of effort, and should such efforts be required by regulatory agencies, a separate 



Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
6

proposal would be prepared by Terracon at the C
include historic studies, records search, or archival work for historic-age archeological resources.  

Subtask 1.4: Biological Resources Species Analysis Form and Spreadsheet with 
Supporting Documentation

The TxDOT Biological Species Analysis Form (September 2021 version) and Species Analysis 
Spreadsheet (May 2022 version) will be prepared. This will also include a site visit by a Terracon 
Natural Resource Specialist assessing the project route for potential habitat suitability. Supporting 
documentation will include results of database searches for U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
(USFWS) Threatened and Endangered Species List and Texas Parks and Wildlife Department 
Threatened, Endangered, and Species of Greatest Conservation Need List for Bell County. 
Additional effort includes reviewing topographic maps, aerial photographs, USFWS Critical Habitat 
maps, Ecological Mapping System of Texas and Natural Diversity Database. Additional maps may 
be required depending on the results of the database searches.

Subtask 1.5:  Surface Water Analysis Form and Supporting Documentation

This task is presented to assist the Client in compliance with Section 404 and Section 10 
regulating the discharge of fill materials in waters of the United States (WOTUS) during possible 
future construction activities within the study area.  The determination of the presence or absence 
of WOTUS in the study area resulting from this task will dictate the appropriate level of U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers (USACE) permitting effort, if any.  To accomplish this task, Terracon will 
perform subtasks, which include a desktop review, a limited site investigation, and report 
preparation as described below.

Prior to visiting the study area, background research will be conducted and will consist of locating 
and reviewing pertinent maps, aerial photographs, historic topographic maps, soil surveys, plant 
species data, USFWS National Wetlands Inventory (NWI) maps, Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM), and other related data necessary for a desktop 
review of site conditions.  This desktop review will assist Terracon in preliminarily identifying 
suspect aquatic resources within the study area.  Terracon will review topographic maps, aerial 

opinions and experiences of areas that could be potentially categorized as WOTUS.  Appropriate 
sections of the digital topographic maps, aerial photographs, and floodplain maps, and proposed 
project boundaries will be projected and converted to the appropriate Geographic Information 
System (GIS) format that is required for the fieldwork, mapping, and report preparation.

A limited site investigation will be conducted to identify and delineate the boundary of aquatic 
resources in the study area (if applicable). Wetland identification and delineation will follow the 
guidance in the USACE 1987 Wetland Delineation Manual and the Great Plains regional 
supplement to the USACE manual. The site investigation will include completion of USACE wetland 
determination data forms characterizing vegetation, hydrology, and soils within the study area.  
Potential WOTUS will be identified based on the presence of an ordinary high-water mark (OHWM) 
and bed/bank features, or the presence of wetland indicators (i.e. hydrophytic vegetation, 
wetland hydrology, and hydric soil) where applicable and then mapped using a GPS with sub-
meter accuracy.  

Following the site investigation, the TxDOT Surface Water Analysis Form (August 2022 version) 
will be completed and will include exhibits indicating the boundaries (polygons) and acreage 



Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
7

and/or linear footage (if applicable) of aquatic resources identified in the study area during the 
site investigation will be prepared. It is not anticipated that a Section 404/10 Permit will be
required as a result of the analysis. If a delineation report and Section 404/10 Impacts Table are
required based on the results of the site investigation and completion of the Surface Analysis 
Form, a Supplemental to the Agreement for Services will be negotiated with the Client to perform 
additional tasks as necessary to receive environmental clearance for water resources. 

Subtask 1.6:  Section 4(f) Checklist and Section 6(f) Coordination with TxDOT

Based up results of the WPD, the proposed project may have the potential to impact publicly 
owned parks and recreation areas, or Historic sites [considered protected property under Section 
4(f)]. Based upon the proposed action, alternatives, and previous archaeological surveys, it is 
assumed the project will qualify for an exception allowed under 23 CFR 774.13. To qualify, the 
project must comply with the USDOT Act Section 4(f) and the standards outlined in the 2012 
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Policy Paper for projects that trigger Section 4(f). If the 
project impacts protected properties, either by a temporary occupancy or a permanent 
incorporation of land, or by activities that significantly impair the features, activities, or 
attributes, the project sponsor must evaluate the proposed project for adverse effects. To 
document the exemption, Terracon will complete the Checklist for Section 4(f) Exceptions for 
Public Parks, Recreation Lands, Wildlife & Waterfowl Refuges, Non-archeological and Archeological 
History Sites (January 2020 version). To complete the checklist Terracon will perform the 
following:

Determine if potential Section 4(f) properties are located within the project area;

Review project plans to determine if the project presents a use of a protected property;

properties, per guidelines set forth in the 2012 FHWA Section 4(f) Policy Paper;

Conduct fieldwork of significant protected properties, taking street-level photography of 
the property. This cost proposal assumes that the fieldwork will be completed concurrently 
with the site visit required for the PCR;

Review project plans to determine if the project qualifies as an exception to the Section 
4(f) process, as outlined in 23 CFR 774.13; 

Consult with the OWJ to determine if there is agreement that the use of the Section 4(f) 
property is solely for the purpose of preserving or enhancing an activity, feature, or 
attribute of the property;

Prepare a detailed map of the Section 4(f) Property including current and proposed ROW, 
property boundaries, access points for pedestrians and vehicles, and existing and planned 
facilities;

Prepare a site boundary and ROW map; and,

If a site, or multi-properties, do not fall under the exception, or the adverse impact 
reduced, then a Section 4(f) de minimis checklist and/or an alternatives analysis will be 
required. If either is required, an additional scope of work and proposed fee will be 
negotiated. 



Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
8

This cost proposal also assumes that the fieldwork for the Section 4(f) Exceptions Checklist will be 
completed concurrently with the site visit for the PCR. If the site visits cannot be scheduled at the 
same time, a change order will be submitted for the work.

Per conversations with TxDOT Waco District Environmental personnel, activities in a park must 
confirm that the park or recreational area has not previously funded by a grant from the Land and 
Water Conservation Fund Act (LWCF). Compliance with Section 6(f) of the LWCF must be followed 
by TxDOT and other entities. Section 6(f) applies to transportation projects, regardless of funding 
source or approval authority, which propose to use land from a Section 6(f) property. Utilizing the 
TxDOT guidance document for the Section 6(f) LWCF Act (March 2022 version), Terracon will 
perform the search and coordination necessary to determine whether the project requires 
compliance with Section 6(f). This search includes conducting research on databases kept by the 
National Park Service and Texas Parks and Wildlife Department (TPWD). This task includes 
coordination with TPWD personnel, if necessary. Results of the findings will be presented in a 
short memo to the Client and TxDOT. This subtask does not include meetings, agency 
coordination, or efforts to prepare documentation should the property be considered a Section 
6(f) protected property.

Task 2: Project Coordination with TxDOT, Waco District 

Coordination (via phone or email) with TxDOT and the Client will be performed as part of this task 
and include meetings and submission of deliverables. This task does not include attendance of 
official project Public Meetings or Hearings. 

Total Deliverables

The deliverables will consist of the Historic Studies PCR, Archeological Background Study, Species 
Analysis Form and Spreadsheet, Surface Waters Analysis Form, Section 4(f) Checklist and Section 
6(f) Coordination, and the supporting documentation of each subtask. Those task items with 
documents will be compiled and presented to the Client for review and approval. One round of 
comments from the Client will be resolved. After Client approval, the deliverables will be 
presented to the TxDOT Waco District Environmental Coordinator for review, concurrence, and 
approval. This proposal includes resolving one round of TxDOT Waco District comments and re-
submission. Additional comment resolution may require further scoping and cost. 

Task-Specific Limitations

Based on the current information to date, the tasks detailed above will be required as part of the 
project. While unlikely, it is not known if further studies will be required. Therefore, the following 
environmental tasks are not included in this proposal and would require additional scoping and 
cost, if deemed necessary:

Impaired Water Analysis and Storm Water Plans

Development of Engineering EPICs

Historic Architecture Surveys

Archeological Research or Studies

Air Studies



Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
9

Noise Studies

Hazardous Materials Initial Site Assessment

Detailed Water Resources Studies

Species Presence or Absence Surveys

Geological Surveys

Agency Coordination outside of TxDOT Waco District 

Community Impact Assessment

Public Involvement

Impacts and Alternatives Analyses

C. COMPENSATION

Compensation shall be on a lump sum basis by task as indicated in the table below.  
Invoicing will be monthly, based on percent complete of the tasks below.

TxDOT Categorical Exclusion Assessment Fee
Authorized by 
Client

Task 1,  Subtask 1.1: WPD I and WPD II Tool $1,750.00 Yes  No

Subtask 1.2: Historic Resources PCR $4,000.00 Yes  No

Subtask 1.3: Archeological Background Study $3,000.00 Yes  No

Subtask 1.4: Biological Resources $3,000.00 Yes  No

Subtask 1.5: Water Resources $3,000.00 Yes  No

Subtask 1.6:  Section 4(f)/6(f) Coordination $3,500.00 Yes  No

Task 2: Project Coordination with TxDOT $1,750.00 Yes  No

Total $20,000.00

The stated fees are valid for ninety (90) days after the date of this proposal.  

The fees in this proposal do not include meetings, consultation, or data collection/evaluation that 
may be required by regulatory agencies outside of what has been proposed above.  



Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
10

D. RELIANCE

The delivered documentation will be prepared for the exclusive use and reliance of the Client and 
TxDOT.  Reliance by any other party is prohibited without the written authorization of the Client 
and Terracon in the form of a Reliance Agreement that incorporates the terms and conditions of 
the original Agreement.

E. SCHEDULE

Services will be initiated upon receipt of the signed Agreement for Services.  Terracon will perform 
the proposed services as presented above according to the schedule below:

Task Scope Schedule

1 TxDOT CE Assessments and Documentation See Below

Field Visits 12-15 business days following 
completion of the WPD screens

Draft Report of Deliverables to Client for 
Review

20-25 business days following 
execution of field visits

Resolution of Client Comments 5-7 business days from receiving 
comments

Submission to TxDOT Waco District for approval 5-7 business days from Client 
comment resolution

This schedule assumes that the site visit is not hampered by weather, site access conditions, or 
unusual wait times for data from Client/state agencies.



Facilities  |  Environmental  |  Geotechnical  |  Materials
11

F. AUTHORIZATION

The proposed Scope of Services may be authorized by executing and returning the attached 
Agreement for Services to Beth Valenzuela by email at beth.valenzuela@terracon.com. Services 
will be initiated upon receipt of authorization and written notice to proceed. We look forward to 
working with you on this project.  If you have any questions or require additional information, 
please feel free to contact Beth Valenzuela at (512) 358-9933.

Sincerely,

Terracon Consultants, Inc.

S. Elizabeth Valenzuela, MA Ann M. Scott, PhD, RPA

Group Manager, Architectural History Department Manager, Environmental Planning
Authorized Project Reviewer

Attachments:  Agreement for Services (dated August 29, 2022)



Pa
rk

E 13th Ave – Proposed 
Design 

(Approved by TxDOT)

Reconstruct existing, 
as needed (green) & 

install new where 
missing (orange). 

Bike lane in white. 

Provide 
crossing to 
Park Lane



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 3   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item                   
 
 
        

Date:  January 24, 2023    
Case No.: Z-23-01 
Request: Agricultural to Commercial 

Highway (CH) 
Applicant/Owner: Unity Four 2150 Investment 

Inc.  
 

 
Agenda Item #12 
 
Z-23-01 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Commercial 
Highway on approximately 7.51 acres located at 3401 S. IH 35 Service Road, located at the 
southwest intersection of IH 35 and Mesquite Road. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Agricultural Zoning District 
 
Proposed Zoning: Commercial Highway 
 
Proposed Uses: Travel Center – Convenience Store, Restaurants, and Truck Stop 
     
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation:  
 
The FLUM identifies this general area as a commercial corridor. 
 
Design Standards Type Area 2: 
 
The projected growth for Type Area 2 is primarily commercial highway frontage uses. 
Opportunities for mixed use developments, hotels, restaurants, new car dealerships, multi-
story office buildings.  
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
The applicant submitted this zoning change request for a Travel Center. The proposed uses 
involve a convenience store, two restaurants, and gasoline sales for both passenger vehicles 
and larger trucks. The proposed uses are allowed in the Commercial Highway Zoning District. 
A subdivision plat and development plans are currently under review. The subdivision plat will 
be presented to the Council at a future date because of the required perimeter street 
improvements on Mesquite Road.  



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Existing Conditions: The surrounding uses are:  
 
Direction Zoning  Use 
North Commercial Highway and 

Agricultural  
Undeveloped  

South Agricultural Undeveloped 
East of I35 Commercial Highway and 

Commercial -1 
Vacant Land and AAA Mini 
Storage 

West Agricultural Residential  
 
Allowable Land Uses: The proposed zoning change would allow for the proposed convenience 
store/truck stop and restaurant, as well as other uses permitted in the CH zoning district.  
 
Area & Setback Requirements: This lot is approximately 7.51 acres and exceeds the minimum 
area requirement for the CH District, which requires a minimum lot size of 7,200 sq. ft, a 
minimum width of 60’ and depth of 120’. The lot width is over 650’ and depth is over 500’ which 
exceeds the minimum lot requirements. The site plan is currently under review to ensure 
compliance with the setback requirements and applicable zoning and site design standards. 
The site plan proposes a 6’ privacy fence along the western property line and a portion of the 
southern property line for screening to the adjacent residential property.  
 
Wastewater: City of Belton wastewater service is currently not available at this site. The 
applicant plans to install an on-site sewage facility which requires approval from the Bell County 
Public Health Department. City of Belton water service and fire protection are available at this 
location.  
 
Planning and Zoning Public Hearing: At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, 
during the public hearing on this item, a property owner expressed concerns for children safety 
as the frontage road is currently used as a school bus stop. Staff has reached out to BISD for 
more information. 
 
Recommendation 
 
At their meeting on January 17, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously 
recommended approval of the requested zoning change from Agricultural District to 
Commercial Highway District for the property located at 3401 S. IH 35 Service Road; subject 
to the following conditions: 
 

1. The use of this property shall conform to the Commercial Highway District in all respects. 
 

2. The development of each property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 2 Design 
Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
including: 
 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 3 of 3   
 

a. Site Development Standards  
b. Landscape Design Standards 
c. Tree Protection, Preservation and Mitigation Standards. 

 
3. A subdivision plat is required.  
 
4. Proposed sign must comply with the adopted sign code as per Ordinance 2022-22. 

 
Attachments 
Zoning application, plat, and conceptual site plan 
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Aerial  
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’)/Zoning notice to owners/Property owner’s list 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 

 
 

  





















1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
Tuesday, January 17, 2023

 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Nicole Fischer, Alton 
McCallum, Zachary Krueger, Quinton Locklin, Davis Jarratt, and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: 
Luke Potts. The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, Planning 
Clerk Deb Swift-Alejandro, and IT System Analyst Alex Munger.  
 
5. Z-23-01 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Commercial Highway on 

approximately 7.51-acre property located at 3401 S. IH 35 Service Road, located at the southwest intersection 
of Interstate 35 and Mesquite Road.  (Audio 6:27) 
 
City Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report. 
  
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. 
 
The following residents spoke in opposition of the zoning change expressing concerns for traffic impacts and safety:  
Jane Durham - 293 Mesquite Dr, Michelle Scott – 488 Mesquite Dr, and Rosemary Stampley, 579 Mesquite Drive.   
With no further public input, the public hearing was closed.  
 
Vice Chair Covington made a motion to approve Z-23-01 as presented. The motion was seconded by Commission 
Member Krueger.  The motion passed with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-01 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON BY 
CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL TO COMMERCIAL 
HIGHWAY ON APPROXIMATELY 7.51 ACRES LOCATED 3401 S. IH 35 SERVICE 
ROAD.   
 

WHEREAS, Karim Maknojiya, representing property owners Unity Four 2150 
Investment, LLC, has presented a petition duly signed, to the City Planning & Zoning 
Commission and filed said petition with the City Clerk of the City of Belton, and due notice 
of filing of said petition and hearing on said petition has been given as required by the City 
Zoning Ordinance and by law, and a hearing on said petition before the City Planning & 
Zoning Commission of the City of Belton was set for the 17th day of January, 2023, at 5:30 
p.m. for hearing and adoption, said district being described as follows: 
 

approximately 7.51 acres  
located at 3401 S. IH 35 Service Road  
(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 

 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was duly recommended by the 

said City Planning & Zoning Commission and the date, time, and place of the hearing on 
said application by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 24th day of January, 
2023, at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said hearing was 
given as required by ordinances and by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed from Agricultural to Commercial Highway in 
accordance with Section 23, Commercial Highway District, and the Design Standards in 
Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Zoning Ordinance of the City 
of Belton is hereby amended, subject to the following conditions:  

 
1. The use of this property shall conform to the Commercial Highway District in all 

respects.  
2. The development of the property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 2 Design 

Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
including: 

a. Site Development Standards  
b. Landscape Design Standards 
c. Tree Protection, Preservation and Mitigation Standards.  

3. A subdivision plat is required.  
4. Proposed sign must comply with the adopted sign code as per Ordinance 2022-22. 



This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City of Belton 
and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 24th day of January 
2023, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 
 

SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 
24th day of January, 2023. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



EXHIBIT "A"



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 3   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item                   
 
 
        

Date:  January 24, 2023    
Case No.: Z-23-02 
Request: Agricultural to Planned 

Development - Commercial 
Highway (CH) 

Applicant/Owner: Turley and Associates/S&S 
Advertising Associates 
 

 
Agenda Item #13 
 
Z-23-02 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Planned 
Development Commercial Highway on approximately 6.198 acres located at 5881 W. US 190 
Service Road, at the southeast intersection Interstate 14 and George Wilson Road. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Agricultural Zoning District – Annexed in 2006 
 
Proposed Zoning: Planned Development - Commercial Highway 
 
Proposed Uses: Truck Stop 
     
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation:  
 
The FLUM identifies this general area as a commercial center and commercial corridor. 
 
Design Standards Type Area 4: 
 
The projected growth for Type Area 4 is primarily commercial highway frontage uses. 
Opportunities for mixed use developments, hotels, restaurants, new car dealerships, multi-
story office buildings.  
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
This zoning change request is to allow for the development of a Travel Center. The proposed 
project will include with a convenience store with gasoline sales for both passenger vehicles 
and larger trucks. The proposed use is allowed in the Commercial Highway Zoning District. 
This property is currently platted as the Mobile Home Estates Subdivision containing 74 lots. 
The proposed zoning change will impact Lots 1-22.  



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Existing Conditions: The surrounding uses are:  
 
Direction Zoning  Use 

North of IH 14 Agricultural James Construction Group 
South Agricultural Mobile Home Estates 

Subdivision  
East Office 1, Agricultural and 

Commercial-1 
Roofing Company, B&K 
Small Engine Repair 

West Agricultural  Double D Trucking  
 
Allowable Land Uses: This zoning change would allow for the proposed convenience 
store/truck stop as well as other uses permitted in the CH zoning district.  
 
Area & Setback Requirements: This lot is over six acres and exceeds the minimum area 
requirement for the CH District, which requires a minimum lot size of 7,200 sq. ft, a minimum 
width of 60’ and depth of 120’.  
 
Screening: There is no screening proposed between the truck stop and the existing mobile 
home community. Therefore, staff recommends that the applicant provide an 8’ privacy fence 
along the south property line to provide screening for the adjacent residential use. A Planned 
Development Zoning District is recommended to achieve this objective.  
 
Water and Sewer 
 
The applicant is aware this property lies outside of the City’s water and wastewater service 
area. Dog Ridge Water Supply Corporation is the water provider. The applicant will be 
responsible for providing fire protection. The applicant plans to install a septic system which 
will require approval from the Bell County Public Health Department. A subdivision plat, site 
plan, and building plan will be required prior to development to ensure compliance with all 
applicable codes.  
 
Recommendation 
 
At their meeting on January 17, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously 
recommended approval of the requested zoning change from Agricultural District to Planned 
Development Commercial Highway District, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The use of this property shall conform to the Commercial Highway District in all respects. 
2. An 8’ screening wall is required along the southern property line adjacent to Katy Pauline 

Road.  
3. The development of each property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 4 Design 

Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
including: 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 3 of 3   
 

a. Site Development Standards (Exhibit B) 
b. Landscape Design Standards 
c. Tree Protection, Preservation and Mitigation Standards.  

4. A civil site plan and building construction plans are required.  
5. Proposed sign must comply with the adopted sign code as per Ordinance 2022-22. 

 
Attachments 
Zoning application and conceptual site plan 
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Aerial  
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’)/Zoning notice to owners/Property owner’s list 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 
 

  



































1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
Tuesday, January 17, 2023

 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Nicole Fischer, Alton 
McCallum, Zachary Krueger, Quinton Locklin, Davis Jarratt, and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: 
Luke Potts. The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, Planning 
Clerk Deb Swift-Alejandro, and IT System Analyst Alex Munger.  
 
6. Z-23-02 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Planned Development 

Commercial Highway on approximately 6.198-acre property located at 5881 W. US 190 Service Road, at the 
southeast intersection Interstate 14 and George Wilson Road.  (Audio 17:03) 
 
City Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
Commission Chair Brett Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no public input, the public hearing was closed. 
 
Commission Member Jarrett made a motion to approve Z-23-02 as presented.  Commission Member Fischer seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON BY 
CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL TO PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT – COMMERCIAL HIGHWAY ON APPROXIMATELY 6.198 ACRE 
PROPERTY LOCATED 5881 W. US 190 SERVICE ROAD.   
 
WHEREAS, Turley and Associates, representing property owners S & S Advertising 
Associates, has presented a petition duly signed, to the City Planning & Zoning 
Commission and filed said petition with the City Clerk of the City of Belton, and due notice 
of filing of said petition and hearing on said petition has been given as required by the City 
Zoning Ordinance and by law, and a hearing on said petition before the City Planning & 
Zoning Commission of the City of Belton was set for the 17th day of January,  2023, at 5:30 
p.m. for hearing and adoption, said district being described as follows: 
 

approximately 6.198 acres  
located at 5881 W. US 190 Service Road   

(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 
 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was duly recommended by the 

said City Planning & Zoning Commission and the date, time, and place of the hearing on 
said application by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 24th day of January, 
2023, at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said hearing was 
given as required by ordinances and by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed from Agricultural to Planned Development – 
Commercial Highway in accordance to Section 32, Planned Development District, and 
Section 23, Commercial Highway District, and the Design Standards in Ordinance 2014-17, 
Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Zoning Ordinance of the City of Belton is hereby 
amended, subject to the following conditions:  

 
1. The use of this property shall conform to the Commercial Highway District in all 

respects. 
2. An 8’ screening wall is required along the southern property line adjacent to Katy 

Pauline Road.  
3. The development of each property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 4 

Design Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, including: 

a. Site Development Standards (Exhibit B) 
b. Landscape Design Standards 



c. Tree Protection, Preservation and Mitigation Standards.  
4. A civil site plan and building construction plans are required.   
5. Proposed sign must comply with the adopted sign code as per Ordinance 2022-22. 

 
This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City of Belton 
and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 24th day of January 
2023, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 
 

SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 
24th day of January, 2023. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



EXHIBIT "A"



EXHIBIT "B"



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 3   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item                   
 
 
        

Date:  January 24, 2023    
Case No.: Z-23-03 
Request: Agricultural to Planned 

Development – Mobile Home  
Applicant/Owner: Jake Branigan 

 
Agenda Item #14 
 
Z-23-03 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Planned 
Development – Mobile Home District on approximately 8.593 acres located at 1705 FM 1670, 
south of Interstate 14 and on the east side of FM 1670.  
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Agricultural District 
 
Proposed Zoning: Planned Development – Mobile Home District 
 
Existing Uses: Mobile Home Park 
 
Proposed Uses: Mobile Home Park 
      
Future Land Use Map Designation: 
 
The FLUM identifies this general area as a lifestyle center suitable retail, restaurants, dense 
residential and neighborhood services.  
 
Design Standards Type Area 4: 
 
This Type Area includes various blocks along I-35 and I-14 that are projected for commercial, 
retail, and neighborhood service uses with higher standards of development as they are 
gateways to other areas. 
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
The applicant is the property owner of the Countryside Mobile Home Park. When the property 
was annexed in 2004, the park was zoned Agricultural and has operated as a legal non-
conforming use. There are currently 36 manufactured homes, but the park was originally 
approved for 38 units.  
 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Code Enforcement Officers and Building Inspection staff are actively working with the property 
owner to help them come into compliance with the Mobile Home Park Ordinance and to secure 
their City license. 
 
The owner submitted this application as a step towards bringing the park into compliance with 
the City’s zoning and mobile home park requirements.  
 
The proposed Planned Development Zoning District would allow the current use as a mobile 
home park to continue and will also set a maximum density of mobile home units at 38. 
 
The approval of this zoning change does not alleviate the owner’s responsibility to comply with 
all the provisions of the Mobile Home Park Ordinance. 
 
This zoning is positive evidence that the owner is attempting to bring the property into 
compliance with City Ordinances. 
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Existing Conditions: The surrounding uses are: 
 
Direction Zoning  Use 

North  Agricultural Single Family detached 
home 

South Agricultural/Single Family-3 
and Mobile Home 

Single Family detached 
homes and a mobile home 
lot – Brenda Lane 

East Agricultural  Detached mobile homes 
West Agricultural  Mobile Home storage 

  
 
Allowable Land Uses: The existing use is permitted in the MH District. New homes will be 
required to comply with current development standards, including the Mobile Home Park 
Ordinance (City Code of Ordinances, Chapter 12). 
 
Area & Setback Requirements: The subject lot exceeds the minimum area requirement for the 
Mobile Home District, which requires a minimum of five acres and a maximum of 25 acres for 
a Mobile Home Park. This site is approximately 8.5 acres. Under the MH District, the maximum 
density allowed is 20 units per acre. The site has three units per acre. 
 
Wastewater Services: City wastewater is currently not available on this site. Bell County   
Health Department (BCHD) records indicate this facility is operating on a grandfathered OSSF 
permit issued in the 1970s for a maximum of 38 units. The applicant will need to upgrade the 
OSSF system to meet BCHD standards or connect to City sewer, when available, prior to 
placing additional homes in the park.  
 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 3 of 3   
 

Water Services: Domestic water is available from Dog Ridge Water Supply (DRWS). Fire 
protection is currently not available at this site. However, DRWS in partnership with the Belton 
Economic Development Corporation is upgrading the water on the westside of FM 1670 which 
may provide fire protection to the Park.  
 
Recommendation 
 
At their meeting on January 17, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously 
recommended approval of the requested zoning change from Agricultural to Planned 
Development – Mobile Home District with the following conditions: 
 

1. The development must conform to all applicable standards of the Mobile Home Zoning 
District and shall have a maximum density of 38 units.  

2. The park shall comply with standards in the City Code of Ordinance, Chapter 12, Mobile 
Home Parks.  

3. Bell County Health Department approval for on-site-sewage-facility is required prior to 
the placement of additional mobile homes. 

4. Prior to the placement of new mobile homes, a subdivision plat, site plan, and building 
permits will be required.  

 
Attachments 
Zoning application  
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Aerial  
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’)/Zoning notice to owners/Property owner’s list 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 

























1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
Tuesday, January 17, 2023

 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Nicole Fischer, Alton 
McCallum, Zachary Krueger, Quinton Locklin, Davis Jarratt, and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: 
Luke Potts. The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, Planning 
Clerk Deb Swift-Alejandro, and IT System Analyst Alex Munger.  
 
7. Z-23-03 - Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Planned Development - 

Mobile Home District on approximately 8.593 acres located at 1705 FM 1670, south of Interstate 14 and on the 
east side of FM 1670.  (Audio 25:50) 
 
City Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. 
 
Applicant, Jake Branigan, 1705 FM 1670, spoke in support of the zoning. With no other input, the public hearing was 
closed.  
 
Commission Member Fischer made a motion to approve Z-23-03 as presented.  The motion was seconded by Vice Chair 
Covington.  The motion was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.    



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-03 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON BY 
CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURE TO PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT – MOBILE HOME RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT ON APPROXIMATELY 
8.593 ACRES LOCATED 1705 FM 1670.   
 
WHEREAS, Jake Branigan,  the property owner, has presented a petition duly signed, to 
the City Planning & Zoning Commission and filed said petition with the City Clerk of the City 
of Belton, and due notice of filing of said petition and hearing on said petition has been 
given as required by the City Zoning Ordinance and by law, and a hearing on said petition 
before the City Planning & Zoning Commission of the City of Belton was set for the 17th day 
of January, 2023, at 5:30 p.m. for hearing and adoption, said district being described as 
follows: 
 

approximately 8.593 acres  
located at 1705 FM 1670  

(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 
 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was duly recommended by the 

said City Planning & Zoning Commission and the date, time, and place of the hearing on 
said application by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 24th day of January 
2023, at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said hearing was 
given as required by ordinances and by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed Agricultural to Planned Development -
Commercial-1, Mobile Home in accordance to Section 32, Planned Development District, 
and Section 16, Mobile Home, and the Design Standards in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 
7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Zoning Ordinance of the City of Belton is hereby 
amended, subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The development must conform to all applicable standards of the Mobile Home 

Zoning District and shall have a maximum density of 38 units.  
 

2. The park shall comply with standards in the City Code of Ordinances, Chapter 12, 
Mobile Home Parks.  
 

3. Bell County Health Department approval for on-site-sewage-facility is required prior 
to the placement of additional mobile homes. 
 



4. Prior to the placement of new mobile homes, a subdivision plat, site plan, and 
building permits will be required.  
 

This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City of Belton 
and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 24th day of January 
2023, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 
 

SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 
24th day of January, 2023. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



EXHIBIT "A"



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item                   
 
 
        

Date:  January 24, 2023    
Case No.: Z-23-04 
Request: Single Family-2 (SF-2) to Two 

Family (2F) 
Applicant/Owner: BWH Holdings LLC, Series 5  

 
Agenda Item #15  
 
Z-23-04 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Single Family-2 
Residential (SF-2) to Two Family (2F) on 0.921 acres located at 507 Ellis Ave located in the 
Sallie J White Addition, Block 4, Lot 1. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Current Zoning: Single Family-2 Residential 
 
Proposed Zoning: Two Family (2F)  
  
Proposed Uses: Duplex Residential 
     
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation:  
 
The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) identifies this general area as residential use, which 
includes single family, two family, and multi family. 
 
Design Standards Type Area 6: 
 
The projected growth for Type Area 6 is primarily mixed uses, residential area with 
redevelopment to occur in a manner that takes account of surrounding uses.  
 
Background/Case Summary 
 
The applicant submitted this request to change the existing zoning to allow for duplex 
development. The applicant plans to demolish the existing home and subdivide the property 
into four lots for duplexes. This would include four duplexes for a total of 8 units.  
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
Existing Conditions: The zoning and uses of the adjacent property are:  
 



 
 

 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Direction Zoning  Use 
North of Ellis SF-2 Detached single family 

homes 
South SF-2 Detached single family home 
East SF-2 Detached single family 

homes 
West SF-2 Detached single family 

homes 
 
Allowable Land Uses: The proposed zoning change would allow for duplex and single family 
detached dwellings.  
 
Area & Setback Requirements: The site exceeds the minimum lot size of 7,200 square feet 
required for 2F zoning district. This lot is approximately 40,000 square feet.  
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
This property is located within an existing neighborhood developed with single family 
detached homes and zoned either SF-2 or SF-3. The neighborhood is stable and not in 
transition. The 2F zoning change to allow duplexes is considered a spot zoning that is not 
compatible with the surrounding uses. Spot zoning is the process of singling out a small 
parcel of land for a classification that is significantly different from that of the surrounding area 
for the benefit of the owner of the property and the possible detriment of the surrounding 
owners. While this is not incompatible to the future land use map, it appears incompatible to 
the neighborhood character. A compatible alternative would be a possible zoning change to 
SF-3 or building new homes under the current SF-2 area requirements.  
 
Recommendation 
 
At their meeting on January 17, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously 
recommended approval of the requested zoning change from Single Family-2 to Two Family 
for the property located at 507 Ellis Avenue. Due to the incompatible surrounding uses, staff 
recommends disapproval. 
 
Attachments 
Zoning application 
Conceptual Plat  
Proposed Elevations 
Property Location Map, Zoning Map, Aerial  
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’)/Zoning notice to owners/Property Owner list 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 

























1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
Tuesday, January 17, 2023

 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Nicole Fischer, Alton 
McCallum, Zachary Krueger, Quinton Locklin, Davis Jarratt, and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: 
Luke Potts. The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, Planning 
Clerk Deb Swift-Alejandro, and IT System Analyst Alex Munger.  
 
8. Z-23-04 – Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Single Family-2 Residential (SF-2) to Two 

Family (2F) on 0.921 acres located at 507 Ellis Ave located in the Sallie J White Addition, Block 4, Lot 1.  
(Audio 31:44) 
 
Vice Chair Covington recused himself from this agenda item. 
 
City Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.  
 
The applicant, Brandon Whatley, 4394 Cedar Creek, Temple, and Terri Covington, 105 Dover Run, spoke in support 
of the zoning change.   
 
Commission Member Fischer made a motion to approve Z-23-04.  The motion was seconded by Commission Member 
McCallum.  The motion was approved with 7 ayes, 0 nays.    



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-04 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON BY 
CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM SINGLE FAMILY-2 RESIDENTIAL TO 
TWO FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT ON APPROXIMATELY 0.921 ACRES LOCATED 
507 ELLIS AVENUE. 
 

WHEREAS, BWAH Holdings LLC Series 5, property owner, has presented a petition 
duly signed, to the City Planning & Zoning Commission and filed said petition with the City 
Clerk of the City of Belton, and due notice of filing of said petition and hearing on said 
petition has been given as required by the City Zoning Ordinance and by law, and a 
hearing on said petition before the City Planning & Zoning Commission of the City of Belton 
was set for the 17th day of January, 2023, at 5:30 p.m. for hearing and adoption, said 
district being described as follows: 
 

approximately 0.921 acres  
located at 507 Ellis Avenue 

(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 
 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was duly recommended by the 

said City Planning & Zoning Commission and the date, time, and place of the hearing on 
said application by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 24th day of January, 
2023, at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said hearing was 
given as required by ordinances and by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed from Single Family-2 Residential to Two 
Family Residential District in accordance to Section 14, Two Family Residential District, 
and the Design Standards in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance. The 
Zoning Ordinance of the City of Belton is hereby amended, subject to the following 
conditions:  

 
1. The use of this property shall conform to the Two Family (2F) Residential District in 

all respects. 
 

2. The development of the property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 6 Design 
Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
including: 
 

a. Site Development Standards  
b. Tree Protection, Preservation and Mitigation Standards.  



This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City of Belton 
and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 24th day of January 
2023, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 
 

 
SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 

24th day of January, 2023. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Wayne Carpenter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



EXHIBIT "A"



 
                                                                                                                       
 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 1 of 2   
 
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
       Date: January 24, 2023   

Case No.: P-22-31 
       Request:  Final Plat 
      Applicant: Quintero Engineering, LLC

     Owner/Developer: Gerado Rodriguez Mata 
Agenda Item #16 
 
P-22-31 – Consider a final plat of Rodriguez Estates Addition, comprising 4.36 acres located 
at 1971 FM 1670. 
  
Originating Department 
 
Planning Department – Tina Moore, Planner 
 
Case Summary 
 
This final plat proposes a one block, one lot addition for a single family detached residential 
development. This property is zoned Agricultural and meets the area requirements for this 
zoning district. This lot would normally meet the requirements for an administrative approval. 
However, there is no fire protection near the site. The applicant is requesting a variance from 
fire protection standards, which cannot be waived administratively in the City. Perimeter 
street improvements, sidewalks, and parkland fees have been waived, as provided for in the 
Subdivision Ordinance.  
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
This development is zoned Agricultural, and the proposed lots exceed the minimum area 
requirements as noted below:  
 
 A Lot  
Minimum Lot area 3 Acres 4.36 acres 
Lot width 150’ 280’ 
Lot Depth 300’ 661’ 
Minimum Front Yard 
Setback 

50’  

Minimum Side Yard Setback 20’/25’ - adjacent to a street  
Minimum Rear Yard Setback 25’  
Maximum Lot Coverage N/A  



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
January 24, 2023 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Water: This property is located within the Dog Ridge Water Supply Corporation’s Certificate 
of Convenience and Necessity (CCN). The City of Belton Fire Code requires a minimum 
water flow of 1,000 gallons per minute (gpm) for fire hydrants. There are no fire hydrants in 
this area; therefore, fire protection is not available. The applicant is requesting a variance to 
the requirement for fire protection. Staff can waive fire protection standards for administrative 
plats located in the ETJ boundaries. This tract is located within the City’s jurisdiction; 
therefore, fire protection requirements cannot be waived administratively. Staff supports this 
variance request.  
 
Sewer: This property is located within the City’s Wastewater CNN; however, no service is 
available at this location. The applicant is proposing an on-site sanitary system for 
wastewater subject to review and approval from the Bell County Public Health Department.  
 
Access: Access is provided via an existing 20’ wide access easement from FM 1670.  
 
Streets: FM 1670 is classified as a minor arterial roadway on the adopted Thoroughfare Plan 
Map. A minor arterial roadway requires 100’ of right-of-way (ROW), and the existing roadway 
has approximately 136’ of ROW. A ROW dedication is not required. This is a TxDOT 
maintained road; therefore, perimeter street improvements are not required.  
 
Drainage: Topography and drainage plans were reviewed by staff.  
 
Sidewalks: No sidewalk is required.  
 
Parkland Dedication/Fee: Parkland fees were waived.  

Recommendation 

At their meeting on January 17, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously 
recommended approval of the final plat of Rodriquez Estates, subject to the following: 
 

1. Approval of a variance to fire protection requirements. 
2. Staff Comment letter dated 1-10-23. 

 
Attachments 
Final Plat Application 
Location Maps 
Final Plat 
Variance request letter 
Staff Comment letter dated 1-10-23 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 











QUINTERO ENGINEERING, LLC 
CIVIL ENGINEERING • LAND SURVEYING • PLANNING • CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 

1501 W Stan Schlueter Loop, KILLEEN TEXAS (254) 493-9962 
T.B.P.E. FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 14709 

T.B.P.L.S. FIRM REGISTRATION NO.: 10194110 

December 27, 2022 

City of Belton  

333 Water Street  

Belton, Texas 76513 

RE:  Rodriguez Estate - Waiver Request 

Please find this letter as our request for a variance to the requirement of fire flow rate for the submitted plat, 

Rodriguez Estate Subdivision.    

The owner of the Water Certificate of Convenience and Necessity (CCN) is Dog Ridge Water Supply 

Corporation (Dog Ridge WSC). Dog Ridge WSC is currently providing water service to the existing lot and land 

owner per the submitted water bill. During our coordination efforts, we requested that Dog Ridge WSC provide 

our firm with the existing water distribution systems flows and capacities. Unfortunately, Dog Ridge WSC has 

refused to provide our firm and our client with this information and we cannot verify that the existing water flow 

rate is a minimum of 1,000 gpm. For these reasons, on behalf of our client, please find this letter as our 

variance request. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me, should you have any additional comments, concerns, or questions. 

Gorge J. Meza 

Project Manager 

Quintero Engineering, LLC 







1 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
Tuesday, January 17, 2023

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center, 401 North Alexander Street. 
Commission members who were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Vice Chair Dave Covington, Nicole Fischer, Alton 
McCallum, Zachary Krueger, Quinton Locklin, Davis Jarratt, and Joshua Knowles. The following members were absent: 
Luke Potts. The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Bob van Til, Planner Tina Moore, Planning 
Clerk Deb Swift-Alejandro, and IT System Analyst Alex Munger.  

9. P-22-31 – Consider a final plat of Rodriguez Estates Addition, comprising 4.36 acres located at 1971 FM 1670.
(Audio 49:05)

City Planner Ms. Moore presented the staff report.

Vice Chair Covington made a motion to approve P-22-31 as presented.  The motion was seconded by Commission
Member Jarratt.  The motion was approved with 8 ayes,0 nays.


	Agenda - 012423
	CIty Manager's Memo 
	#3 - Minutes - 011023
	#4 - Staff Report - CTWSC Board Nominee
	#4 - Attachments

	#5 - Staff Report - 2023 Population Estimate
	#5 - Attachments

	#6 - 2023 CM Agreement Revisions NEW VERSION
	#7 - Staff Report - TIRZ Annual Report 2022
	#7 - Attachments

	#8 - Staff Report - Egrants for VOCA and JAG grants
	#8 - Attachments
	RESOLUTION  NO. ___________


	#9 - Staff Report - Axon Body Worn Cameras and In-car Cameras - Grant
	#9 - Attachments

	#10 - Staff Report - Design Services for 13th Avenue SUP
	#10 - Attachments

	#12 - Staff Report - Z-23-01 - Zoning Change - 3401 S. IH 35
	#12 - Attachments

	#13 - Staff Report - Z-23-02 - Zoning Change AG to PD-CH
	#13 - Attachments

	#14 - Staff Report - Z-23-03 - Zoning Change AG to PD-MH
	#14 - Attachments

	#15 - Staff Report - Z-23-04 - Zoning Change - SF-2 to 2F
	#15 - Attachments

	#16 - Staff Report - P-22-31 - Rodriguez Estates Addition
	#16 - Attachments


	s11: City of Belton
	vvs: City
	s12: Michael Rodgers
	s13: Director of Finance
	s14: P O Box 120
	s15: Belton
	s16: Bell
	s17: 76513
	s18: 254-933-5808
	s19: 254-933-5859
	s110: mrodgers@beltontexas.gov
	s21: Belton Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone No. 1
	s22: 2021
	s23: 2022
	Asd3: Annual Report
	y1: No
	y22: 
	y23: 
	ATTCHS: Off
	ATTCHS2: Off
	s24: 3,055
	s25: Yes
	s26: Increased
	s27: Both (commercial/ industrial and residential)
	s25w: No
	s213a: 
	s213a1: 
	s213a2: 
	s213a3: 
	s213a4: 
	s213a5: 
	s213a6: 
	s213a7: 
	s28: Public Buildings and Facilities
	s29: Roadwork
	s210: Water/Sewer and Drainage
	s211: Parks
	s212: Off
	s213: 
	s214: Facade Renovation
	s215: Parking
	s216: Historical Preservation
	s217: Transit
	s218: Off
	s219: Economic Development
	s220: Off
	s221: 
	s222: 5581830
	s223: 2482768
	s224: 0
	s225: 0
	s226: 0
	s227: 0
	s228: 769237
	s229: 3252005
	p21: 402390
	p22: 0
	p23: 942359
	p24: 32549
	p25: 0
	p26: 0
	p27: 0
	p28: 0
	p29: 0
	p210: 69750
	p211: 1447048
	p212: 255000
	p213: 10200
	wp213: 265200
	p214: 61896623
	p215: 246638226
	p216: 308534849
	p217: Sub-Zone 1
	p218: 167596
	p219: 0
	p220: 167596
	p221: Sub-Zone 2
	p222: 836735
	p223: 0
	p224: 836735
	p225: Sub-Zone 3
	p31: 
	p32: 
	p33: 0
	p34: 
	S3_User Name: Michael Rodgers
	s32: Director of Finance
	s33: 01/24/2023


